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Wednesday, September 8, 2010


--- Upon commencing at 9:08 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Good morning, everybody.  Please be seated.

I see the usual suspects have assembled.

Today is the sixth day of evidence in the notice of intention to make an order against Summitt Energy Management Inc., which has been designated as EB-2010-0221.

Today we expect to hear testimony from the corporate witness for Summitt Energy Management Inc. and the expert witness.  I think that is our agenda for today.

We will not sit beyond 2:00 p.m.  What I am proposing to do, if it fits everyone's reasonable convenience, is to try to go through to 2 o'clock with one break, if that works for everybody.

MR. SELZNICK:  That would, and I appreciate the Board's indulgence in an early dismissal, but I do have special dispensation to stay until at least 2:30, if that is of any help.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  That is helpful.

But I think we will -- perhaps we will make the break a little bit longer, but we will try to go with one break, if that suffices.  I am looking at Madam Reporter.  Would that work?  Okay.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. TUNLEY:  May I be helpful in one respect, as well?  In terms of the first witness's evidence, there is a lengthy report and a summary, a history of this Board's oversight of the energy markets in Ontario.  I don't believe we need to hear that evidence.  It is useful to have a summary of it, but it is the history.  It is not opinion.

I think if we get straight to the opinions on the issues before the Board, that will shorten things.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  And that is, I guess, to some --

MR. SELZNICK:  That was our intention.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  Are there any preliminary matters?

There appearing to be none, we will proceed with your witness, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  The witness who will be speaking for our expert is Fred Hassan, and I don't believe he has been sworn yet.
FRED A. HASSAN, AFFIRMED

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Hassan, you have a little green button in front of you and a light.  Is the light on?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Mr. Hassan will be here to speak to us about the report that he prepared for this hearing, and just for identification purposes - and I will ask him to identify this as well - you should have three documents in front of you.  The first one is a three-ringed binder entitled "Ontario Retail Natural Gas and Electricity Markets", which is a hard copy of the report that we e-mailed to the Board on Friday, last week.

And then there should be two other documents in cerlox binders, the same report, same title, but one entitled "Corrected Copy", in the upper right-hand corner, and the other one noted "Black-Lined Copy".  These are the ones that were served by e-mail yesterday and these are the hard copies of this one.

I am going to ask the witness to identify these and speak to the differences very briefly.

Oh, do we have an extra three-ringed binder?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just bear with me for a second, Mr. Selznick, so I can confirm that I actually have both of those, the black-lined and the corrected copy.

I do not.  I only have the black-lined copy.

MR. SELZNICK:  Ms. Lindenburg will bring them up to you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

I am assuming we should be looking at the corrected copy?

MR. SELZNICK:  We should be, and Mr. Hassan will identify the differences generally for us.

MR. DUFFY:  Board Staff is missing a revised copy, but what we will do is, just to get on with this, we will mark them as exhibits and you can proceed with your examination, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

MR. DUFFY:  Why don't we mark the original version as K6.1., the corrected version as K6.2, and the black-line as K6.3.  And it is "Ontario Retail Natural Gas and Electricity Markets", report from Fred Hassan.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  BINDER ENTITLED "ONTARIO RETAIL NATURAL GAS AND ELECTRICITY MARKETS", BY FRED HASSAN
EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  CORRECTED COPY "ONTARIO RETAIL NATURAL GAS AND ELECTRICITY MARKETS" BY FRED HASSAN.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  BLACK-LINED COPY OF "ONTARIO RETAIL NATURAL GAS AND ELECTRICITY MARKETS" BY FRED HASSAN
Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Mr. Hassan, could you just state your full name for the record, please?

MR. HASSAN:  Fred A. Hassan.

MR. SELZNICK:  I just want to remind you, because you really haven't participated in the earlier parts of this proceeding, that we are concerned and we're maintaining the confidentiality of the names of any of the consumer complainants and the agents in question.  I don't think it comes up in your testimony, but if it should, we are just referring to them by initials or the customer or the agent.

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, I understand.

MR. SELZNICK:  In the -- with the materials, which is the Exhibit K6.1, the old version of the report, appended to it is a copy of your curriculum vitae that I would just direct the Board to.

I take it from this you have spoken before the Board in the past, and rather than qualifying you about your credentials, unless Mr. Tunley has questions about that, could you just highlight for us some of your appearances before the Board?

MR. HASSAN:  Most of my appearances before the Board were on behalf of Union Gas, Centra Gas, while I was an employee with the company.

I spoke to a number of direct purchase-related hearings, a number of gas supply, gas cost hearings, and participated in the ten-year market review, as well as participated in and assisted the Board with respect to the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review.

I then went on to -- after leaving Union Gas, to work for Ontario Power Generation, both on the gas supply area, as well as the non-utility generation area.

And the last four-and-a-half or five years, I have been working in my own firm, as well as in consultation with Elenchus Research Associates.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And I understand that you were asked to prepare a report entitled "Ontario Retail Natural Gas and Electricity Markets"; is that correct?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And is that the report that has been identified and presented in Exhibits K6.1, K6.2 and K6.3 in this proceeding?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. SELZNICK:  I understand there are three versions before the Board.  The one, which is K6.1, is the version that was circulated last Friday that you prepared.

K6.2 is the more recent version of that same document that was circulated yesterday, and K 6.3 is the black-lined copy noting the changes between the two; is that correct?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain the reason for the three and what the differences are?

MR. HASSAN:  On Thursday evening when I was finalizing the report, I was moving some material from one document to another document, which I thought, incorrectly, was the final version.  In reviewing the materials on Friday, I came across the errors.  The document I was intending to move it to had been proofread and corrected, and when I saw those errors on Friday, I made the corrections and sent a corrected version to Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  And those corrections, are those corrections in any of the conclusions, or any of the conclusions different between the two versions?

MR. HASSAN:  No, they are not.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Now, can you tell us what your instructions were and from who you received them in preparing this report?

MR. HASSAN:  Mr. Selznick asked me to prepare a report, that the report would provide a historical background of the gas and electric industry in Ontario, and describe the evolution of the Retailer Codes of Conduct, how price was formed in the marketplace and the trends in energy contracting practices in Ontario, and how customers made choices in the retail energy market over time.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you briefly discuss the method by which you conducted your research and whether you felt it was sufficiently exhaustive to come to the conclusions you reached?

MR. HASSAN:  Well, there were a number of places where the information came from.

Certainly, the Ontario Energy Board provided us with information -- data, information.  There was additional information regarding enquiries that is contained in the OEB's website, which was extracted, information from the Independent Electricity System Operator and from the Ontario Power Authority, where math and analysis were required.

NYMEX CME data was accessed.  As far as direct research is concerned, we researched 11 academic journals and extracted from -- I'm sorry, numerous journals, and I believe there were 11 of those that we went into and –- or 12 those that we went into, 11 of which we extracted papers, and four of those papers were the most germane and we used those in our comments.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you have referenced in your report the documents and other papers you referred to in your submissions?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Did Summitt Energy influence the opinions in your paper?

MR. HASSAN:  No, they did not.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did they comment on a draft that you amended in consequence?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, they provided me some typographical and chart numbering recommended changes, and chart labelling changes.  That was the extent of it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you summarize for the Board the main findings in your paper?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  At page 27 of the report, I identify the main findings and observations.  In summary, the retail gas market and gas price is transparent in contrast to the electricity market.

As prices and volatility rise -- and this is back through to 1990 in the gas market -- customers tend to move to fixed prices in direct purchase contracts, to try to lock-in the long-term trend and avoid the price volatility, and to avoid higher prices that they're concerned about in the future.

A good example of this, I guess, on the broadest scale would be the fixing of the electricity price through a move by the Ontario government.  When price volatility just after market opening occurred, the government was very concerned for consumer issues, and at that time the price was notionally fixed in the marketplace.

Due to significant changes, terminology such as "provincial benefit," complexity of electricity price setting mechanisms, the Ontario electricity retail market price mechanisms tend to be confusing to most consumers, and in many cases, experts in the marketplace.

And the price and its components really are not transparent.  This is likely due to the shift to an RPP midway through market evolution, and as well due to the addition of the provincial benefit.

This seems to be recognized by the government and its agencies.  I understand that the Ministry of Energy has proposed in their recent regulation to change the name of provincial benefit to global adjustment, so that the concerns that consumers have with the implication of -- around the word "benefit" is not continued to be conveyed.

Secondly, the Independent Electricity System Operators, as part of their 2011 business plan, are proposing to conduct a market roadmap plan and engage stakeholders to address the market inefficiencies.

The fourth item:  Retail gas accounts have declined when there are significant and rapid LDC commodity price declines.  You can see that at figure 8 on page 13 of my report.

In that graph, the red line represents the retail gas customer decline over time, compared to the step-down Union Gas and Enbridge LDC rate changes over time.

As you know, the Union Gas and Enbridge rate changes occur generally on a quarterly basis, and therefore they tend to lag the real-time market on the way down and on the way up.  As a consequence the price signal, albeit much clearer than it was at the beginning of deregulation, is a bit muted there.

The provincial benefit appears to have contributed to the reduction in overall as well as new retail electricity accounts, and likely also to enquiries with the Ontario Energy Board.

If you go to figures 17 and 18 on page 24 and 25, in 24 you can see at the bottom line is the dotted provincial benefit going into negative territory, and clearly the Province intended provincial benefit to be a benefit over time, but given the shift in the composition of the components that go into deriving the provincial benefit or global adjustment and the substantial increase in renewable energy that's been brought to the grid, that combined with surplus base load energy, you can see the dramatic rise during the summer of 2009 in the provincial benefit.

Again, that is driven in the summertime primarily by surplus base load generation, and is expected to continue on based on the IESO's report on surplus base load generation and based on the Ontario Energy Board's own forecast with respect to the global adjustment.

There, you also can see, in the pink line, the rise and fall of the retail electricity customers.  The fall in retail electricity customers during that time period in 2007 occurred five years after the opening of market, and likely at that time was the first opportunity for consumers to return to system.

On page 25, I am showing the red curve being the new retailer customers.  Now, these are new customers who have been signed during the period, and you can see the decline in retail customers, new attachments, at the same time rising with the provincial benefit.

And at page 26, I graph the agent enquiries and contract enquiries versus the provincial benefit.  The contract enquiries is the green line, and the provincial benefits is the red line.  Again, they almost rise in parallel with each other.

There is no information on the OEB's website to break out contract enquiries and isolate the provincial benefit component.  That would certainly be an improvement, if there were more information available for participants on a regular basis, to access that information for a variety of uses by a variety of market participants.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

You have identified in your report a decline in the retail energy supplier customers in both Ontario's gas and electricity markets.

In your view, what are the major factors that have caused these declines?

MR. HASSAN:  The natural gas market is transparent, while the electricity market, as I said earlier, is not, at this point.

As far as the gas is concerned, 98 percent of Ontario's gas comes a long distance to Ontario.  There is about 2 percent that's produced here by local producers.  It has to use a transmission system, and it has to be balanced by storage in Ontario.

It has gas forward, financial, physical markets, and all of those markets provide excellent transparency.

LDCs, the gas LDCs, buy gas, and they have been held accountable by the regulator for the commodity cost.  Customers know the price of the -- for the commodity does not have any adders in it, just for the absolute gas molecule part.

When they go to direct purchase, they know that they're isolating their gas commodity costs.

You have no obligations to the local distribution company, other than your gas supply portfolio -- I'm sorry, to the LDCs' gas supply portfolio, other than to deliver the gas to the LDC as committed to by contract.

On the electricity side, the Ontario electricity, almost all of Ontario's electricity is produced in Ontario by Ontario generators, and some is exported.

We are a net exporter of electricity.

Ontario's electricity market is a hybrid market.  It has many patches on it, and we continue to patch both the wholesale market and the retail market since market opening.

Although there is a real-time hourly market, there is no forward market and limited bilateral physical markets in the electricity market here in Ontario.  Most new generation has been built under long-term contracts to the Ontario Power Authority.

And as a consequence, there is no real supply/demand response for either transmission or generation.

Originally, in the market design committee's report that was used to design this marketplace, at the outset, there was a desire to create competitions between generation and transmission, so you would have the most efficient marketplace.  And to accomplish that, there was a desire to move to what was referred to as locational marginal pricing, and, in doing so, you would locate generation in the most efficient locations using market forces of supply and demand.

We don't have real competition on the generation side, and certainly not on the transmission side.  The Board's movement and the government's movement towards enabler lines will, in some degree, introduce competition, but today and over the past eight years we have not had real competition.

This results in very poor transparency in price discovery. The local distribution companies do not -- the electricity local distribution companies do not and have not acquired electricity on behalf of their customers.  It primarily has been either a pass-through from Ontario Hydro or a pass-through, today, through the RPP mechanism.

So when you look at the electricity industry in Ontario, there is no single party that really is held accountable for the commodity cost of the electron.  That accountability is shared amongst various agencies and contracting parties, but the LDCs have no electricity, gas cost review.  So in that regard, there is no real price reference point on the retail side as there is on the gas side.

MR. SELZNICK:  So back to my question more specifically, if there has been a decline in the retail energy supplier customer pool, as your charts note in your report, what is your view of the major reasons for that decline?

MR. HASSAN:  On the gas side, it has been due to price and contract expiry, and that is shown on figure 8 on page 13.

On the electricity side, it is primarily due to the perceived additional cost of the provincial benefit and contract expiry.

In addition, the relatively stable overall cost of electricity over the last four years of the RPP doesn't really motivate customers to switch.

MR. SELZNICK:  You note in your report and you mentioned in your evidence today that customer enquiries to the OEB increased with increasing provincial benefits.

How do you know that these enquiries concern provincial benefits?

MR. HASSAN:  The media reports I reference in my report indicate that both the Ministry and the OEB have had a very large number of enquiries due to the provincial benefit being unclear or misunderstood.

And I have been advised that this was one of the reasons for the name change in the provincial benefit -- proposed for the provincial benefit.

MR. SELZNICK:  And in the research you have conducted and reported upon, you have uncovered drivers or motivators in consumer decision making with respect to their choice in the supply of natural gas and electricity.

Can you speak to that for a moment?  What are these main drivers or motivators?

MR. HASSAN:  In the research that I did, one paper is called "Do consumers switch to the best suppliers?"  It was conducted by Wilson and Price.  It is reference number 21 in my paper.

And in that report, Wilson and Price were trying to determine, using two databases, whether customers did make switching decisions efficiently, and they found, no, most consumers do not make efficient decisions.

As a component of that research, they looked into mis-selling at the door and concluded from their research that mis-selling is not the cause of consumer choice, but, rather, it is likely due to highly complex market and non-linear tariffs.

For instance, the provincial benefit is a non-linear tariff in the consumer's eye.  It moves inversely to the notion of the current commodity price market.

Price, the same author in the earlier paper, also did a subsequent paper on the future of retail electricity markets, which I have referred to as reference number 5.  And what she found is that as prices rose, customers switched to fixed prices and switching increased at that time.

They also found that, in their markets, because of the changes that were taking place, you have imperfect competition and imperfect regulation, and, as a consequence, this requires pragmatic choices and decisions by the regulator, and, in addition, the need for good and timely information, as I mentioned earlier, in the public domain.

VaasaETT did research on utility consumer switching, reference number 6.  I was quite surprised, because I have always held the view that Ontario was at the forefront of retail access, and we were at some point, but over the last five or six years, Ontario has been ranked as a dormant retail market.

This is possibly, in their mind, due to the inefficient wholesale market, state involvement, such as the OPA and the provincial benefit, as well as incumbent power.

Customers also were identified to switch to fixed and cap prices when prices rise.

MR. SELZNICK:  And I think you mentioned in your last answer mis-selling.  Just to be clear on this point, does the research that you conducted indicate that mis-selling is a factor in consumer choice between a utility and a retail energy supplier?

MR. HASSAN:  The research did not find that mis-selling is a driver in consumer choice between utilities.  It was a very, very low-ranked item.  The actual research went in and looked at a number of factors, and mis-selling was one of the lowest ranked components.

MR. SELZNICK:  And just to be clear, has your research uncovered that gas and electricity pricing is one of the most significant drivers, motivators over potential mis-selling?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  It is the largest motivator for switching.  In Price's report, she found 77 -- depending on which database she used.  As I mentioned, she used two databases.  Seventy-seven percent, interestingly, was for low-income group database, and 86 percent switched in the homogenous group -- or heterogeneous group for price and rates.

MR. SELZNICK:  If possible, can you tell us what some of the other factors were besides price and mis-selling?

MR. HASSAN:  They looked at the household respondent's marital status.  They looked at widowed or divorced.  They looked at electricity arrears, previous switching, not having any mains in front of your property.  Obviously, when you do this kind of research, you are going to come across people like that.  People living in rented accommodation, people on disability benefits, influence of sales agents and the number of regional competitors.

They also looked at the income and social grade.  They put a social grade on the respondents, to look at those factors in conjunction with two other components, which were the agent mis-selling and conning of consumers; misrepresenting the offer, in other words.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Those are our questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.

Mr. Tunley.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Mr. Hassan, just on your background, I understand you have an MBA and your education is primarily as an engineer; is that right?

MR. HASSAN:  Both areas, finance, marketing and engineering.

MR. TUNLEY:  And your current focus, I take it, is as an economist and market analyst in the energy area; is that right?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, I do market work, but I also do commercial work, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You have no particular background or education in consumer behaviour, I take it?

MR. HASSAN:  I did study consumer behaviour in my MBA program, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  General -- as a part of a general MBA program, that was one course?

MR. HASSAN:  As part of the marketing program.

MR. TUNLEY:  Part of the marketing program.

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  I also did it -- at the Ivey Business School, I took an advanced executive program in marketing.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are aware that consumer behaviour is a specialty in the social science in and of itself?

MR. HASSAN:  Certainly.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you are not claiming to have expertise in that area, specifically, based on these --

MR. HASSAN:  No, I'm not.

MR. TUNLEY:  You have never given testimony before about consumer behaviour issues, I take it?

MR. HASSAN:  Well, certainly the Board has enquired, while I was director of gas supply at Union, about many of the issues related to customer switching, moving in and out of the retail gas and the cause of that, and, yes, I believe I gave commentary on that.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in that capacity at Union Gas, you would have had access to a range of expert staff assistants in that field.  Fair?

MR. HASSAN:  Fair.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you referenced 12 articles that you have pulled or drawn upon primarily; is that right?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it is fair to say the only article that you looked at that deals with consumer behaviour is the Wilson and Price article that you referenced in your testimony and at footnote 21?

MR. HASSAN:  No.  I believe the -- both the Price paper, the future of retail markets were cited, and Price's -- Wilson and Price's paper -– "Do Consumers Switch..." -- were cited, and the VaasaETT touches on customer switching, as well.

All three of those papers have been cited.

MR. TUNLEY:  The only one that is devoted to that topic is "Do Consumers Switch..."?  The Price, Wilson article?  The others touch on it, as you say?

MR. HASSAN:  No.  Catherine Price's "Future of Retail Energy Markets" does go into some of the drivers and behaviours of consumers.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  It is the same Catherine Price who wrote the "Do Consumers Switch..." article?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  She worked with Mr. Chris M. Wilson.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me that that paper and Ms. Price herself deal with the UK market?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And specifically energy only, not gas?

MR. HASSAN:  Well, the UK market is a unique market, in that it does allow for both gas and power to be sold together by the same retailer.

So there is a hybrid product that is offered.  So it does cover both.  Their papers do cover both gas and electricity.

MR. TUNLEY:  I only see reference in the paper to -- to electricity, but you're saying the background, there is a product in that market that deals with both?

Do you see a reference to that in the paper anywhere, sir?

MR. HASSAN:  In the Wilson, Wadham paper, it does primarily deal with electricity.  Their database is based on the electricity consumer, yes.  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me that the UK market, as you say, is very unique, very different specifically from Ontario?

MR. HASSAN:  There are differences, in terms of market participants and structure, yes.

There are similarities, as well, in terms of market access.  The consumer rights provisions are very similar, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So there are differences and some similarities?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And as I say, those are the only articles that you have referenced that specifically deal with consumer-behaviour issues?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And am I right that your other references, in terms of presenting your evidence about Ontario consumers, are the Toronto Star article that you have referenced in footnote 19?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And Webster's Dictionary?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so apart from your own background and experience in the market, those are the references that you have pulled together to provide your opinion evidence on consumer-behaviour issues?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in terms of dealing with codes of conduct, that is dealt with on page 12.  The evolution of codes of conduct is approximately half a page on page 12 of your report?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then page 27, you reference the conclusions you draw from enquiries to the Ontario Energy Board in figure 19.

Am I right that enquiries are different than complaints?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.  Enquiries, as I understand it, is the label that is on the Board's website.

Complaints would be a subset of that.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MR. HASSAN:  We did not have access to all of the database, possibly, but the information that we were provided and that was on the Board's website was used to create this chart.

MR. TUNLEY:  But in terms of an interest in mis-selling, specifically, you would agree with me we would be interested in the complaints rather than the other types of enquiries that may be made to the Board or to the government from time to time?

MR. HASSAN:  You might be, but I think the industry and the Board should be interested in enquiries, and the composition of those enquiries, and a dataset related to the nature of all enquiries and complaints would be helpful if it were in the marketplace on a regular basis, on a confidential, aggregated basis, so market participants can understand better what is going on in this market, design new products around it and address some of the consumer-related enquiries and issues.

In many cases, enquiries are the leading edge of innovation.

MR. TUNLEY:  And was there information available to you, sir, about numbers of enquiries specifically about the provincial benefit?  Or are you giving your evidence in that regard based on the Toronto Star article and government sources?

MR. HASSAN:  No.  We have clearly indicated that we don't know what component of enquiries is provincial benefit.

We understand it is probably a high component; otherwise, why would the government be changing the name "provincial benefit" to "global adjustment" or proposing to do so?

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But that is an inference you have drawn from the Toronto Star article and the decision of the government to change the name?

MR. HASSAN:  Well, I did speak with some senior-level people at the Ministry of Energy, and asked them about the name change, when it was going to occur.

When I heard -- I heard that this was going to occur, I enquired about it at senior levels and asked why, and they indicated to me that it was because of the -- one of the reasons was because of the number of enquiries.

MR. TUNLEY:  In terms of the enquiries in your chart, though, you are dealing with enquiries to the Ontario Energy Board, rather than the Ministry; is that right?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am going to suggest to you there is no breakout in that database about numbers of enquiries about the provincial benefit, per se.

MR. HASSAN:  No, and I haven't suggested that.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MR. HASSAN:  I wish that there had been.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.  The point you are making is about how to do things better, rather than the data that is available today?

MR. HASSAN:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And I take it there is no doubt between us that one of the issues that is causing customers to disconnect, if you will, may well be that they feel they have been lied to, and mis-selling is not an insignificant aspect of that reaction by consumers?

You are not saying that is not a factor?

MR. HASSAN:  Mr. Tunley, I don't know what you mean by "disconnect."

MR. TUNLEY:  I mean -- sorry, yes, it is -- let me correct that.

Switching back from a retail gas supplier to system gas, you are not saying that that decision may not in some cases be driven by complaints of agent misconduct and mis-selling, are you?

MR. HASSAN:  I don't think there is any clear evidence that that, what you are saying, is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, we've --

MR. HASSAN:  I think there is clear evidence before the Board that it is price that is causing customers to switch.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, in fairness to you, sir, you haven't heard the evidence that is before this Board.

You are saying there isn't --

MR. HASSAN:  I am referring to my --

MR. TUNLEY:  -- statistical evidence in the marketplace, at least that you have been able to access on that point.  Fair?

MR. HASSAN:  I am providing the Board my insight with respect to the research that I did.  And the research that I did shows that a very, very small percentage of switching is related to conning or mis-selling.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the UK?

MR. HASSAN:  On the other hand, over time, almost the last -- since 1990 on the gas side, we have had cycles of switching to and from, and it is primarily - not solely, but primarily - in a very significant way related to price.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sir, you indicated in your evidence in-chief, that a significant episode of switching back occurred four years after the opening of market or five years after, which would be the customer's first opportunity to switch back.

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  The price had dropped dramatically.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But you don't know whether those customers might also have been concerned about mis-selling and misrepresentation, simply not pursued it.  You don't know that?

MR. HASSAN:  It is unlikely, based on the data that we have looked at.

MR. TUNLEY:  There isn't any data, sir, other than the complaints, which you haven't looked at; fair?

MR. HASSAN:  No, I haven't looked at the complaints, because they're not broken out, nor are the provincial benefits.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that's why you didn't look at them.  The data is not available to you?

MR. HASSAN:  Not for this province, no.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Any re-direct, Mr. Selznick?
Re-Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  I just have one question just for clarification purposes.

Can you tell us whether you searched in your literature search -- whether you searched for other consumer behaviour articles in the energy markets, other than the ones that you have cited?

MR. HASSAN:  Yes.  I looked at consumer behaviour issues on mortgage and interest rates, because I thought there might be some database that I could access and see if there was a parallel, and was hoping that some of the data that we might get from the Ontario Energy Board, because we didn't know -- when I started doing the work we didn't know (a) whether we would get the data, and (b) what the nature of that data might be and how disaggregated it would be.

So in parallel with waiting for a response from the Board and getting the data, I started looking at other avenues to acquire information.

So, yes, I looked at interest rates and research there, and I also looked at the energy decision-making process.

MR. SELZNICK:  Were any of those -- any of that literature come to conclusions that are in opposition to what you are saying today?

MR. HASSAN:  No.  As I said earlier, all of the research that I found both on the mortgage side and -- on the interest rate and mortgage side and on the energy side indicated that when prices rise and volatility increases, consumers seek to protect themselves from that, and, as a result, they tend to move towards fixed-price term arrangements.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Board Staff?

MR. DUFFY:  The Board Staff have no questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has no questions.  Thank you very much, sir.  You are excused.

MR. HASSAN:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks for coming and helping us with your insight.

I am advised that the Minister has actually arrived, and while I didn't warn you first thing this morning, I did warn you on Friday that this might happen.

So rather than start Ms. Girardi's testimony and have it unnaturally broken after a few minutes, I am suggesting that we will stand down for about 15 minutes, and then resume.

I think that is the fairest way to handle that.  So we will adjourn until ten after.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 9:53 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:20 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

I think it was a little more time than we anticipated.
GAETANA GIRARDI, SWORN


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick?
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Ms. Girardi, can you state your full name for the record, please?

MS. GIRARDI:  Gaetana Girardi.

MR. SELZNICK:  And are you employed by Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me the position you hold with Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  I am the director of compliance and regulatory affairs.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how long have you held that position?

MS. GIRARDI:  Since middle of 2007.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how long have you worked for Summitt Energy in total?

MS. GIRARDI:  Four years, 2006.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what has been the chronology of your responsibilities at Summitt Energy?  What positions have you held?

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, at Summitt Energy, when I started in 2006, I held the position of director of operations in customer service.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what is your prior work experience before joining Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  From 1992 to 2000, I worked at Enbridge Gas, and after 2000 to the present, I worked at energy retailing companies, marketing companies.

MR. SELZNICK:  What was the general nature of your duties with those companies, and Enbridge?

MS. GIRARDI:  At Enbridge, it was regulatory affairs department, economic studies, contract management, direct purchase.

And when I worked on the retail side, it was operations, customer service, and compliance and regulatory affairs.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

What is your educational background?

MS. GIRARDI:  I have a B.A in economics and a post diploma in administrative law.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

So just as a matter of -- just procedure, at this juncture, you have been sitting through the evidence of the various complainants and the sales agents, so I probably don't need to remind you -- but I will, in any event -- that we have an arrangement to keep the names of the customers and complainants and the sales agents confidential.

So if you could refer to them by initials, or just "the customer" or "the sales agents" that would be appreciated.

If we could, just for the purposes of identification, we had been putting matters to various witnesses in various of the binders that we were going to have you identify just for the record.  So perhaps we could do that now.

There is, well, one binder and perhaps the Board can have these materials handy because they will be referred to in Ms. Girardi's evidence.

There should be, firstly, the binder identified as the "sales kit binder" which is Exhibit K1.7.

Do you have that binder there?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SELZNICK:  And just for the record, these are all documents that came from the files and the records of Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  We will speak to them individually, but I did want to identify that for the purposes of the Board.

There is also a larger volume, which is Exhibit K4.5, which is "Summitt Energy sales agent sales compliance" –-"sales and compliance training materials."

Are you familiar with that binder?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I am.

MR. SELZNICK:  Are those materials that have come from your records and files?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And we have a third volume, which is Exhibit K4.6, entitled "Summitt Energy compliance and regulatory materials."

Are these materials that you have provided?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  So you are familiar with them?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I am.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

In the various -- you will know that we have set up the exhibits so there are various complainant binders carrying various exhibit numbers, in which we have inserted materials such as transcripts of telephone calls and other documents particular to the consumer.

Can you just confirm for us that all of those materials that were inserted in the binder on behalf of Summitt Energy have their genesis with Summitt Energy or came from your files?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And the voice files for which we provided USB keys to the Board and opposing counsel contain recordings that came from your system?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And they're the recordings in their entirety?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And the transcripts, you have reviewed the transcripts that are in the binders and they reflect the conversations on the USB keys and from your records?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Let's just talk for a few minutes, then, about Summitt Energy, if you wouldn't mind.

Can you tell me about who Summitt Energy is and what it does?

MS. GIRARDI:  Summitt Energy is a privately-held company formed in 2006, as I mentioned.

Its primary business is retailing energy contracts to residential and commercial customers.

In 2009, we expanded our business to include the hot water tank rentals and carbon offset program.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you describe the different departments within Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The main departments as -- would be common to any energy retailer in Ontario, include my department, which is the compliance and regulatory affairs department.  There is the operations department that deals with enrolments.  There is the customer service department.  And the gas supply and portfolio department.

MR. SELZNICK:  And in your department in particular, which is, I take it, the compliance department?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you describe the structure of that department and the responsibilities of the people involved there?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I report directly to the president of Summitt Energy, and with me, my team consists of three compliance specialists.

MR. SELZNICK:  Would it be helpful to refer to the binder?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  If you -- just to, I guess, visualize it, which I will be referring to as well from time to time -- in binder 3, Exhibit K4.6, appendix 1, there is a presentation that summarizes the topics I will be testifying to today.

And into the third page, it describes the structure of the compliance and regulatory affairs structure at Summitt Energy.

On the next page, there is a summary of the department's responsibilities, and I will just go through those.

The first one touches upon the role of ensuring that the various areas, departments at Summitt, comply with regulatory and legal requirements.

For example, within the operations department, which mainly deals with enrolments, I would work closely with them to do with gas distribution access, rural requirements, retail settlement, codes to that effect.

When it comes to our reaffirmation centre, obviously I would work closely with them in terms of reviewing scripts, auditing calls and so forth.

And with our marketing, sales and marketing department, I would work with them to ensure that the materials complied with legal requirements, regulatory requirements.

So that is one function of the department.

The next is the management and implementation of Summitt sales agent compliance monitoring program, which I will be discussing in further detail, but that specifically deals with sales agent performance and complaints that we receive.  That is strictly that program.

The second phase -- third phase, I should say, of the department deals with addressing consumer complaints received directly into our department, and those would include what we have been discussing, the CCRs that come from the OEB.

Also complaints from media or legal departments, our department would handle those.

And the last area that our department works on is policy and regulatory proceedings, and also our involvement with the Ontario Energy Association.

Just to quickly add, so there, as I mentioned, there is compliance specialists, and their primary role is to deal with the customers on one-to-one in resolving disputes.

They also deal with sales agent complaint reports, which I will get into a bit further.

And they look -- they also do quality assurance on our reaffirmation calls and our quality assurance calls at the door.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what is your involvement in the compliance department of Summitt Energy with the Ontario Energy Board?

MS. GIRARDI:  Energy Board or...

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes, the Energy Board.

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, okay.  The primary role in, I guess, our relationship with the Board is dealing with the compliance staff at the Board, and in responding to consumer issues, enquiries, disputes.

We are involved with the Board on policy-related matters, as well, on an industry level.

That would be about it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Would you say that you and those in your compliance department are familiar with the Ontario Energy Board Act and the Regulations and the Codes of Conduct?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Can you describe in the broad scope how the Summitt Energy sales force works?  What is its structure?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I can take you to the start of process, which is binder 2, Exhibit K4.5.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you give us a second to get that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sure.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thanks.  Which exhibit are you referring to?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe, if I am not mistaken, binder 2, K4.5, tab 5.  So tab 5, tab 8, this document is -- I will just give everyone a chance to get to it.

This document is an example of an independent contractor agreement, and Summitt Energy enters this agreement with an agency for the door-to-door sales agents and sales activity.

This document is signed at the time that an agency -- that Summitt engages the agency in this service.  And I would just like to draw your attention to certain aspects of it, which deal with specifically with code of conduct and Summitt's expectations in regards to the performance of its sales agents.

So on page 3, we outline, on a high level, the duties of the contractor, 3.1(b), which summarizes that our expectation and level of -- expectation is that they act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of Summitt and shall exercise a degree of diligence and responsibility that a person having the experience and knowledge of the affairs of Summitt would engage in the circumstances.

And, more specifically, in Appendix A, point 1.1(c), we outline that they are to adhere to the code of conduct requirements of the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this contract, for example, is one whereby you hire a separate entity to provide the services of the agents?  They're not your employees?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  And this particular agreement is with one of the agents -- agencies that provided at least one of the agents, the subject of the complaints in matter?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, there were three.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you just for the moment refer to -- I think there are - if you wouldn't mind - two other similar agreements here; is that correct?  Can you just refer us to those and tell us --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Under tab A -- sorry, under tab 5, tab A deals with the one agency which pertains to M.G., A.T. and A.B.

Tab B is another agency that pertains to G.S., and tab C is the agency agreement that pertains to G.W.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

MS. GIRARDI:  I would also like to draw your attention to page 13 of the first agreement under tab A, which outlines Summitt's compensation structure, which we feel is a factor which affects agent performance.

And that is under point 5 on page 13, and it deals with the compensation structure, and it outlines that Summitt Energy pays 100 percent of the commission for all residential deals only when the account or the customer's contract has been accepted by the utility and positively reaffirmed by the customers.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, the redactions in these agreements you just looked at, what has been redacted from those, without getting into the commercial particulars?

MS. GIRARDI:  I would think it is sensitive commercial information.

MR. SELZNICK:  Nothing that pertains to the responsibilities of the agents or the agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  So can you tell us something about your industry and how the sales force might move, since these aren't your employees, per se?

MS. GIRARDI:  If I understand the question, once the independent contractor agreement is signed, then the agency would recruit the sales agencies and the sales agents, individual agents, and the agents would sign an independent contract agreement with the sales agents -- agency.

I can take you --

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you maybe show us an example of that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sure.

MR. SELZNICK:  We will come back to it, I'm sure, but...

MS. GIRARDI:  It's in the same binder under tab 4, and you can go to A.

So the first page of this agreement provides the office name, who the manager is of the office, the personal information of the independent contractor, first name, last name, date of birth, city, province, contact information and some information to identify the agent, such as driver's licence.

And so that would be signed.  The first page would be signed by the sales agent.  And the content of the agreement covers their responsibilities under the code of conduct.

On page 3, the section under "cause for termination", also highlights that in addition to regulatory requirements, compliance with the regulatory codes, Summitt has specified our own codes that we require our agents to abide by, for example, the signing of minors, signing of contracts for military bases.


So these are some reasons that an agent can be terminated, signing contracts with elderly who aren't fully aware of the contractual commitment they're making, signing customers without proper signing authority.

We also talk about where they can solicit, where they can't.  We don't encourage soliciting in gated communities or key entry apartments.  It talks about misrepresentation of identity program, market information, and it talks about the requirement to wear the badge and clothing.

MR. SELZNICK:  And is this structure where you would hire independent agencies to provide a sales force, is that common in your industry?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, it is.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Let's move on for a moment to your training and compliance programs.

So maybe you would like to just explain for the Board how you address training issues with these marketing companies from the beginning of the process through to the end.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.  When a sales agency contacts Summitt to express interest in marketing on our behalf, there would be a meeting that would be initiated between -- one of the meetings would be between the director of sales and marketing and myself, and this meeting would last a good half a day.

And what would be discussed at the meeting would be -- and the material presented to the sales agency would be the sales manual, which is in binder 2.  There are different versions, but we could take the example at C, the May 21st, 2009.

So the sales agency would be presented with the sales manual, and we would walk the sales agency through who Summitt Energy is, some history on our company, the areas we market and the products we market.

There would be a discussion of natural gas.  Most of the agencies are familiar with the product, but we would go into a history of natural gas, history of electricity, and specifically get into the details of our product, so our contract, our terms and conditions.

We would discuss how the actual operations works at Summitt, how we compensate agents.  I am just flipping through.  It is just industry material on the electricity market and how smart meters work and the structure of that.

And we would -- the focus of my discussion with the agency would start on page 14.

MR. SELZNICK:  This is 14 of that tab?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, 14, 15 and 16.  And these pages outline Summitt's expectations of the sales agents.  This is in addition -- the codes of conduct would be presented to them.  They would get copies of those, and, in addition to that, on page 16, I would review with them our compliance process and disciplinary actions.

And just to go into the process, I would explain to them how Summitt Energy tracks and logs consumer complaints, enquiries, feedback from various sources, either from the OEB, from the Better Business Bureau, how we log and track them, how they would receive reports from our office with this feedback through e-mail.

And they would identify the sales agent, they would provide the nature of the complaint, complaint history, and provide information in terms of the agent's overall performance.

I would explain to them the process of when compliance notices are issued by our department, and the remedial action that Summitt takes in addressing complaints.

MR. SELZNICK:  So that is what goes on in those first several meetings with the sales agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And then if the relationship progressed, there would be some contract signed with them; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And then tell us what happens at that point with training and compliance, now you are in a relationship with the sales agency.

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.  A member of the compliance staff would go to the office, and we would roll out what is known as the Ontario Energy Association sales training and certification.

So a member of the compliance staff would go to the office, we would roll out that training, and the agents would sign a -- would write a test.  We would mark the test.  And if they passed 75 percent, we would certify them, and at that point they would get the badge.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you heard a number of the agents talk about taking this three-hour training when they started working for Summitt Energy.

Is that the training that they were referring to?

MS. GIRARDI:  That would be part of it.

MR. SELZNICK:  And in the materials, I think we had reference to -- is there an OEA training material there that references the scope of that training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  In binder 3, Exhibit 4 -- sorry, Exhibit K4.6 -- actually, that is not correct, sorry.

The training is in binder 2.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry?   It is in binder 2?

MS. GIRARDI:  It's in binder 2, tab 3.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this is a presentation that would be given to the agents; is that what are you're saying?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  This is the one that is prescribed by the OEA?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

This isn't the only compliance presentation that is used with the sales agencies.  I provided two other examples, if I can just find them, which is a more, I would say, direct presentation, in terms of communicating their dos and don'ts.  You heard them talk about that.  That is from the presentation.

So if I can just draw your attention to that, that is in binder 3, at tab 2.

So this presentation was developed in 2007, and it goes through who the Ontario Energy Board is, describes the Code of Conduct, OEB Act, the Regulations, talks about the Consumer Protection Act, which deals with door-to-door sales, ten-day cooling-off period.  The concept of unfair sales practices is explained to the agents.

And it says if you want to stay in business, you have to comply with these requirements.

And here is the dos and don'ts.  It talks about wearing our uniform, the badge being visible to consumers.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this training is layered on top of the OEA --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The OEA training came into effect in January of 2009.  So prior to that, this presentation would have been used with the agencies.

It talks about the -- required to accurately yourself as being from Summitt.  The program has to be explained clearly to the customers with current marketing material approved by Summitt.

The contract has to be completed, fully completed, terms and conditions and business card provided to the customer.

Number 8, we require that only account holder or the spouse of the account holder sign the contract.

We state that you can only market for one marketer at a time regarding energy products.

And the business card requirement.

We talk about the don'ts:  Don't say or lead the customer to believe that they are in any way affiliated with the utility, the government or the OEB.  Do not misrepresent the program.  Don't advise the customer that they need to sign to get gas, electricity.  Advise they're signing for a survey.  Verify that they are at their home for a discount.

Our program is not a rebate program.  We go through that.

We talk about the sensitivity that we can't sell to gated communities, senior communities, buildings and homes with "no solicitation" signs.

We talk about don't -- inducing customer to break existing retailer contracts, talk about pressuring people, pressure tactics in selling, the approach of being professional towards customers, sensitivity towards signing elderlies.

We talk, yeah, talk about -- number 9, the main point is that the point of contact if customers have further enquiries should be Summitt Energy.

Talk about privacy policy, the sensitivity of the information they are collecting, that it -- it should be treated carefully, not shown to other consumers, explain the reason why we are collecting utility information.  It is a requirement –- it is required to enrol them in the program.

And then we explain on page 7 the compliance process.  So we talk about protecting your opportunity to sell.  We take compliance matters seriously.  We review sales agent complaints biweekly.  We talk about the sources of the complaints.

We provide -- we advise the agents that we provide reports to their managers on summaries.  We provide feedback, make recommendations on how to address any issues.

Talk about the compliance notice that may be issued to them, the requirement that it is to be reviewed with them, and they are to sign and send it back to head office.

We talk about if complaints continue, you will be required to attend meetings at head office.  And if the pattern persists, there –- they could lead to suspension, fines and terminations.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I can ask, what steps do you actually -- what steps do you take to make sure that these agents actually take the training and meet some standard on the tests that you mentioned?

MS. GIRARDI:  For new agents, they're required -- when the OEA implementation came into effect, and the sales training -- in order to be badged to sell, they're required to complete the test before the badge is provided to them.

MR. SELZNICK:  And that is some auditing process that you go through?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  We audit our system to -- the test results come back to our office.

So once the -- once the -- if we are doing the training session, we would get the test results, go back to the office, and do an audit against active agents in our system versus tests.  And if there is any discrepancy, we would follow up with the agency.

So there could be a case where an agent was sick or something, but we would follow up with that.

MR. SELZNICK:  So we will come back to -– sorry, one other question in this area.

Do you also require that these agencies offer some kind of field training, as well, in addition to simply the in-class work?

MS. GIRARDI:  The field training is managed by the sales managers, and it is a common feature of the training, as they testified at the hearing, that they would take.

MR. SELZNICK:  If we can just go and look at -- I want to take you to the sales kit binder.  That is the one entitled "Summitt Energy sales kit," Exhibit K1.7.

If you could just look at that for a moment, I could maybe ask you a series of questions rather quickly here, just to put these documents into context, since they have been spoken to several times before.

Can you explain the document at tab 1, all the various subcategories in tab 1 of this material?

MS. GIRARDI:  These are registration forms, titled "registration form," which is one component of the contract during this time, and it outlines our product price and term.  It contains the information that would we would require for the enrolment phase of the contract.


MR. SELZNICK:  Why are there so many different versions of this, referencing different times --


MS. GIRARDI:  The main reason is price, and some of them refer to our carbon offset program, our green program.

MR. SELZNICK:  So is it correct that these are the forms that would be used for registration at the corresponding periods of time referenced?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you could go to tab 2 for a moment?  We will come back to tab 2, after we just sort of identify it, a little later when we talk about some of the questions the Board has had.

Can you explain what these documents are, quickly?

MS. GIRARDI:  This has been referred to as the brochure, and they contain the terms and conditions.

MR. SELZNICK:  And -- go ahead.

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Similarly, there are a number of different versions of these.  Why?

MS. GIRARDI:  Some of the terms and conditions have been updated, and marketing material have been updated.  Some of the marketing material include information -- well, the marketing material, historical utility rates, gas price rates, wholesale price rates.

One of the things that has come up during the hearing is the termination clause, and the earlier versions describe -- if I can just take you to page -- or to one of them, tab 2A, it outlines in section 6(iii) -- it explains that the customer is in default for breaching the contracts, that it is considered termination, and then it goes into liquidated damages and section 8 may apply.

We have since revised that section to -- later on, to specifically communicate to the customer that they can terminate the contract early.  There is clearer communication around that.  I am not sure if that is helpful.  I can direct you to that change.

So if we go to -- it should be in C.  I stand corrected.  Sorry.  Let's try D.  Yes, so section 6 says:
"If I choose to terminate this agreement, I may be subject to liquidated damages as per section 8 of this agreement."

So we have made that change.  But the majority of the change deals with marketing information updates.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if I can take you to the tab 3 in this binder, can you explain the purpose of these documents?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's the certificate.  The main purpose of it is to be used as a business card and a quick or a leave-behind for the agent to the customer, should they enquire and want to know more about the program.  It also explains our blend and extend feature.

MR. SELZNICK:  Are they instructed as part of your training on how to complete these forms that we have spoken to in tabs 1 --


MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That is the back -- I guess the back of the form talks about there is a requirement to leave agent name and ID.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you can go to tab 4 of this binder, the sales kit binder, can you explain this document?

MS. GIRARDI:  This is the OEA brochure.  It was developed through a committee known as the marketer retailer sector committee at the OEA.

The brochure was developed in conjunction with other retailers, and it is the same content as used by other retailers.  It was developed in 2009 and it provides information, background information, on the energy market.

It explains what the agreement form is about.  It explains to the customer the cancellation rights, who an energy retailer is.  It goes into more detail, in very plain and simple language, about our product and energy retailing.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  If you can take a look at tab 5 of that same binder?

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  You have heard various agents identify certain of these items they may have worn from time to time.  Is this basically your catalogue of approved Summitt Energy branded wear that the agents are to wear?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you go to tab 6 for a minute, this is a representative sample of the badge, as commented on by various agents?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And throughout the period in question here, from 2008 to 2010, the badges looked somewhat like this?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you go to tab 7 of the same binder, can you explain what these documents are in A, B, C -- tabs A, B, C of tab 7?

MS. GIRARDI:  They are newspaper clippings.  They would have been provided by our marketing department to the sales agencies.

MR. SELZNICK:  What is the purpose of them?

MS. GIRARDI:  To provide the sales agents with current information on the market and to be used in conversation with consumers, as well.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you go to tab 8 for a moment?  What is this little thing here, this little --


MS. GIRARDI:  That's a sticker.  It is regarding -- it pertains to our energy -- our green energy program.

MR. SELZNICK:  And tab 9?

MS. GIRARDI:  The sticker is left for consumers if they wish to display it on their window that they have participated in the carbon offset program.

That is the carbon offset registration form.  It hasn't come into effect -- it hasn't -- doesn't pertain to any of the cases we have dealt with to date, I don't believe.

MR. SELZNICK:  What about tab 10?

MS. GIRARDI:  Those are the terms and conditions regarding the energy program, green energy program.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Can you tell me whether this type of sales kit, with a registration form, brochure and other advertising, is a standard way of selling products in the retail energy sector?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The format that Summitt used during the period in question here with the complaints is standard.  It is common -- it's a common format in the industry.

I have provided examples of others.  I believe they're in binder 3.  So binder 3, tab 10A, this is an example of wholesale -- the Wholesale Energy Group enrolment form.  That would have been a separate form similar to our registration form, and attached to that would have been something comparable to our brochure, which outline the terms and conditions and provided market information.

Tab B is a sample of Direct Energy's registration contract kit, and it describes the -- again, the registration form and the terms and conditions being a separate pamphlet.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you just go back to binder 2 for the moment, which is Exhibit K4.5?  I know you touched upon this briefly at the beginning of your evidence, but can you take a look at the sales information manuals that have dates between April 11th, 2008 and June 2010?

That is tab 1, I take it, of that binder.  Can you just, again, describe generally the purpose of these documents again?

MS. GIRARDI:  These documents would be presented to the sales agencies for market training purposes.

The reason for the different versions is updates to market information.  For example, there is a provincial benefit table in these manuals, which would be updated and provided to the sales agencies.

The compliance material and the code of conducts would be consistent throughout the different versions.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you just describe why there are so many different versions of this document?

MS. GIRARDI:  It covers the period in question.

MR. SELZNICK:  What kind of changes are reflected in them?

MS. GIRARDI:  One of the changes is the provincial benefit updates that -- which happen monthly.  We would update that.

There would be updates in regards to utility prices.  So the first -- I guess under tab B of that section, on page 5, we would show historical Union and Enbridge prices.  Those prices would be updated from one version to the next.

Yes.  So you can see under tab B, on page 5, it goes to 2008.  Then if you turn to tab C, page 5, it goes to 2009.

Electricity prices should be updated accordingly, as well, and the provincial benefit prices.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if you can turn just on that first -- the tab 1C of this binder.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  That version of the –- because I think you referred to it earlier in your evidence, from May 21st, 2009, that version of the sales information manual.

If you can just look at -- maybe we can just focus in for a moment on pages 14, 15 and 16.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And I think you spoke in your evidence before, on page 14, about what the agent responsibilities were that you were reinforcing with the agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you go to page 15, you mention this Summitt Energy Code of Conduct.  Am I correct that you have your own Code of Conduct in addition to the --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That is -- the Code of Conduct is outlined on page 14 under "Agent responsibilities" and "Responsibilities to customers."

That is what would be Summitt's Code of Conduct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what steps do you take to ensure that agents understand and follow the requirements of the Act, the Codes of Conduct, the Regulations and Summitt Energy's Code of Conduct?

MS. GIRARDI:  In addition to the training provided?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  There are -- there are different types of meetings that take place between Summitt's compliance staff and marketing staff, with the sales agencies.

So for example, most of the sales agencies come into our office on Mondays or Tuesdays, at the beginning of the week, to submit their contracts.

And during that time, there would be an opportunity to discuss consumer complaints or enquiries or issues that may have arisen during the week.  So we would take that opportunity to discuss that.

In addition to that, there are formal conference calls, meetings that take place on a monthly and quarterly basis with the compliance staff, sales and marketing staff and the sales manager, where we would go through a report that outlines feedback on each agent and we would discuss the sales agent's performance.

During those meetings, we review not only the written complaints that we get, but we could review additional information provided by consumers through phone calls, during reaffirmation calls.

So it is quite a robust process that we go through during these meetings.

MR. SELZNICK:  And again, at page 16 of that same tab, you outline the complaints and disciplinary process, which I think you described in your evidence a few questions ago.

But my question now is has that process changed over time?  Have you developed it further?

MS. GIRARDI:  The -- there has been an enhancement to the program.  At the beginning of 2009 -- sorry, 2010, Summitt Energy has been in the process of enhancing its compliance program.

And if I can just take you to -- because it might be easier to explain it through the presentation in binder 3, tab 1 of the -- which is the presentation.

If we just go to the end of it -- so I apologize the pages aren't numbered, but the title of it is:  "New initiatives implemented in June, July of 2010."

But we have been developing these since the beginning of the year.  And we --

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry to interrupt.  You said it is the seventh page from the back of that tab; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  It is before the schedules start, before BL 1077.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  Sorry for the interruption.

MS. GIRARDI:  That's okay.

So what we developed -- what we have been working on developing, and it is in implementation currently, is a new -- we call it the point system.

And what we have designed is a point schedule, which allocates points to complaints.

So for instance, if an agent, during a period receives three complaints regarding no contract left -- let's say customers are alleging that -- if there is three complaints, there would be a point associated to it.

So that identifies a trend.

So the numbers of points would be grouped, and then there is different categories of points.  I can explain that later, but the idea is the points would be totalled, depending on the different categories of complaints.  The number of points would be multiplied by a complaint-to-contract-signed ratio.

So you get 10 complaints.  You signed 100 contracts.  Time the points, and you would come up with a compliance factor.

That factor would be associated to a remedial action plan schedule, which would have a range of factors.  So from .5 to .6, this is the action taken, so retraining by sales manager, retraining at head office.

There would be fines for the agency and the agent, and there would be allocation for suspensions and termination.

MR. SELZNICK:  Just on that, so am I to take it that this compliance program has become more robust over time as the company has developed?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Initially the complaints -- the feedback provided to the sales agency was on a complaint -- number of complaints versus contracts signed.  That was the main factor.

And so what we wanted to add in there was a component that factored in severity of complaint and trends of complaints.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

So let's talk about the complaint process from Summitt Energy's perspective, and your complaint protocol.

What happens when a complaint is received at Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  Would this be a good time to go through the tables, maybe, to go through --

MR. SELZNICK:  Well, let's deal with the individual complaints when we get them.

MS. GIRADI:  Oh, okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am talking about just generally, to give the Board a feel of what your complaint protocol is.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.  If we go to the presentation -- and let me count in here.

So seventh page talks about logging complaints.  So complaints come from a variety of sources.  They come through the OEB, obviously, into our centre.  They can come by fax, by e-mail.

So when a customer makes a complaint regarding -- let's just focus on sales agent conduct.  That is not the only category of complaints, but that is one of them.

So we would enter it into our customer service database.  If the contract is in the system, it gets tagged against the contract.  It gets tagged against the product, whether it is gas, electricity or both.

There is a complaint type:  Misrep of ID, aggressive sales tactics in terms of agent conduct.

Complaint method; was it fax, e-mail?  How did it come in?

Who is the contact party?  Is it a third party?  Is it the customer?

The complaint date, the sales agency, the sales –- and there is a requirement to have a note -- description in there as well.

So the complaint is logged in the system.  The second slide shows that there are reports generated from there.

And these are 13 identifiers that I am describing, that the report contains.

So it would identify the agency, the agent, the agent status -- are they active or inactive, terminated -- contract details, reaffirmation status, contract status, the type of complaint -- is it OEB, media, MPP -- the complaint type, contact method, how it came in.  Is it an OEB complaint?  There would be an OEB file number.

The text of the complaint.  You would have the number of contracts signed, reaffirmed, number of complaints received, the contract – complaint-to-contract-signed ratio, and you would have the compliance factor.

MR. SELZNICK:  When you say that -- in your earlier testimony, that when complaints come in, you would discuss them with the agencies -- I think that was your evidence earlier -- can you tell us about that process?  I mean, how does that take place?

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, the next slide goes through that review process.  And it talks about the weekly sales agent meetings and conference calls that take place when they're submitting contracts.  That's an opportunity for staff to sit down and review, mainly during that time, issues that are of concern, or they may be a result of changing in the market conditions, but that would be an opportunity where we would sit down and talk to the sales managers.

Then there are quarterly and monthly compliance conference call meetings that take place, and a meeting notice is sent out to the agencies.  The report is sent out ahead of time.  Any other information is sent to them, perhaps calls or other correspondence received from customers.

So it is quite a robust meeting that takes place, and it is an opportunity for the agency to hear what consumers are -- information consumers are providing regarding the presentation, or the product.  And Summitt's staff, both the marketing and compliance staff, would discuss, make recommendations towards improvements or changes in scripts that could better improve the sales quality or enhance the sales quality.

And we would discuss remedial action, if that is necessary, at the meeting.

MR. SELZNICK:  So I think the evidence has been earlier, both by Ms. Marijan and others, that essentially when there is an intake of a complaint at the OEB, for example, it is generated in a communication with you, currently, to a website, that you would go and you would see the particulars of the complaint?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Ultimately if that data was produced, it would come out in the CCR forms that are in the various complainant binders; is that your understanding?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The way the process works is when the compliance specialist receives the complaint, first of all, they are notified of the complaint through e-mail.  Then they are required to go to the portal, respond to the fields that are required, respond to the complaint.

The complaint is then logged in our database, and the text of the complaint is basically cut and pasted in our database.  So we have the exact feedback from the consumer.

MR. SELZNICK:  So my question is:  When you have these weekly sales agency meetings and you speak with the agencies, and you communicate, I take it, complaints that have come in, what is the information from that CCR database that you actually communicate to the agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  They would get a spreadsheet, a copy of the spreadsheet which is generated from our system, the customer database system, which contains the consumer's OEB complaint, the text of it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you communicate the name of the consumer?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  Um..., they may -- it is on the spreadsheet, but that is not the focus of the report.  It is more towards the text of the complaint.

MR. SELZNICK:  And when you deal with the agencies in this trickle-down communication of complaints and things of that nature, what are your instructions to them about the agents, per se, who are referenced in those complaints?

MS. GIRARDI:  Our instructions are that the report that we provide to the agency is to be reviewed with the sales agent.  It is the feedback we are getting from consumers, and they are to review that with the sales agent, review any other supporting documents we provide and address the -- address the feedback, in terms of improvements in sales presentations, and so forth.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is it also of benefit to address those complaints to the sales force as a totality in these weekly meetings?  Do you know if agencies do that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, yes, yes.

So the regional managers would discuss overall consumer feedback at their weekly meetings.  And when I attend the sales offices, I would also provide that feedback, as well.  I would communicate the information I am getting back from consumers.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what about actually visiting sales agencies?  What is Summitt's protocol for actually going and visiting the sales agents and dealing with compliance issues on site?

MS. GIRARDI:  The formal visits happen twice a year, and that is basically dealing with -- one of the meetings is the OEA compliance training and certification.  There are other meetings that are done, compliance meetings, throughout the year, should there be a need for it, in terms of reviewing the code of conducts.

We do those other meetings to encompass new hires.  And, in addition to that, the sales and marketing team has meetings with the sales agencies to deal with market products.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you just for a moment go to tab 2A of binder 3, if you wouldn't mind?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you describe this document, and is this something that you would use at one of these onsite meetings?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I referred to that earlier.  That was the November 2007 compliance training manual -- module.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what is a compliance notice?

MS. GIRARDI:  I provided an example.  There is an example in binder 3.  I believe it is tab 15, the very last tab.  That is a sample.

And it's a formal communication tool that Summitt uses that it issues to the sales agency and the sales -- specifically to the sales agent.  It requires the sales agent -- the manager to review the complaint and follow through on the remedial action we have indicated.  And we require the form signed and sent back to our office.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how would you supervise the marketing agencies and how they respond to your communications about complaints?  How do you know that when you speak to them, it trickles down to the sales force?

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, the compliance notice would be one tool that is used.  We would monitor trends of complaints to see how that progresses.

We would ask for meetings at our head office to ensure that communication is communicated down to the sales agencies.  Either the agent would come to our head office or we would go there to meet with them.

MR. SELZNICK:  Tell me about -- because we looked at this very briefly when we talked about those independent contractor forms and the reference in there to some OEA annualized training.  Can you explain that, what that is?  If you want to go to the form, we can --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I think the OEA training was developed in 2009, and it's a standard module which contains -- the first section of the training is market information.  The second section talks about behaviour in complying with codes of conduct, what the requirements are in terms of door-to-door selling and marketing of products.  Then there is a test that happens.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is now an annual process?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, although it is -- it will be referred to -- each individual company will use this module.  It won't be referred to as the OEA module.  It will be the company's own module.

MR. SELZNICK:  This is an industry-wide response to training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.  It was developed -- as I said, work began on the standardized training in 2008.  It was rolled out in 2009, and it was developed through a committee of the OEA.

MR. SELZNICK:  Right.  So that leads me to the next bunch of questions I would like you to speak to, and that is about the Ontario Energy Association, which we have mentioned a number of times in the evidence here and the modules.  Maybe we can just talk about that specifically.

So I take it Summitt Energy is a member of the Ontario Energy Association; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me what that association is?

MS. GIRARDI:  The OEA is a private association with members from a variety of sectors.  So utilities would be members.  Retailers are members.  There would be -- private companies who have an interest in energy matters would be members.

And the association is made up of different committees, and one of the committees is the marketer retailer sector committee.

MR. SELZNICK:  So can I just take you, then, to your binder K4.6?  That is the binder 3, Summitt Energy compliance and regulatory materials, and go to tab 3A there.  Can you identify this material for me?

MS. GIRARDI:  That is from the website.

MR. SELZNICK:  Of who?

MS. GIRARDI:  Of the Ontario Energy Association.  And on page -- three pages or -- wait a minute.  Four pages in, it talks -- it outlines the committees, and the marketer retailer sector committee is there.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me something about that committee, that specific retailer and marketer subcommittee?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The active participants in the committee would be the main door-to-door retailers in Ontario, so just Energy Direct, Superior, Summitt.  There are other retailers who participate, as well.

And since 2008, I would say that the main focus of the committee has been on self-regulatory initiatives in response to government concerns on consumer complaints regarding door-to-door retailing.  So we began work on implementing some self-regulatory initiatives to address government concerns and consumer feedback.

So we have been very sensitive to the issues, and also we have been actively engaged in the development and feedback around the Energy Consumer Protection Act and the regulations under that act.


MR. SELZNICK:  If you go to tab 3B of binder 3, the next tab there, can you explain this document or identify this document for us?

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, 3B, just the next one?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  This is a discussion paper put out by the committee, the marketer and retailer sector committee.

And it was posted on the OEB website -- OEA website.  And it was public, obviously, because it is on the website.

And it summarizes the beginning of our self-regulatory work.  So it identifies that we are sensitive and acknowledge that there are consumer concerns regarding door-to-door marketing, and we make recommendations in this report.  These were the -- this was the initial recommendations of how to address them.  And there are three recommendations that we made at the outset.

And the first one deals with changes in the market, basically GDAR and the Retail Settlement Code, which deals with contests.  It hasn't really been raised at this hearing, but that was one of the issues we saw where we were getting feedback from consumers, basically consumers entering into two contracts with different retailers at the same time.

So we were putting forth recommendations that we felt that perhaps the consumer shouldn't be liable for the second contract they entered into, if that contract term was the same as the original contract term.

These changes actually have been implemented in the recent regulations under the Energy Consumer Protection act.

The second recommendation we have made is regarding enhancements around reaffirmation, not only suggestions around adding different line items on the required reaffirmation script, but advocating for the fact -- advocating for a reaffirmation call to happen at the time of the sale.  And the consensus of the committee was that if the call happened at the time of sale, you would -- the retailer would be able to obtain a more comprehensive understanding of the consumer's knowledge of the product, and be able to affirm whether a contract was left at the time, confirm that they understand it is a voluntary program, and confirm that there is no affiliation with the utility.

So this would be -- the point of sale verification would be done in addition to the verification after the 10-day cooling-off period.

And the last point was regarding around more disclosure on consumer -- on contracts, energy contracts, and the pamphlet and more plain language.

MR. SELZNICK:  And this particular discussion paper bears a date of June 2009.  Is that the date it was published, somewhere around that period?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe that is the day it was published on the website.

MR. SELZNICK:  Where was it published?

MS. GIRARDI:  On the OEA website.

MR. SELZNICK:  And is it fair to say that Summitt Energy had an active participation in the preparation of this document?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And let's just revisit for one second this OEA annualized training.  So that annualized training, is that one of the other initiatives that –-

MS. GIRARDI:  That was the other one, yes, that was through the committee.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you describe that test, what the test is and the questions, and how you deal with the marking?

MS. GIRARDI:  The test -- the OEA training, I believe, has 53 questions on it, and you can see, through the independent contractor agreements we filed in this proceeding, that the number of questions have changed from 29 to 43.

The reason -- and marketers had the liberty to make those changes, which would –- and the reason the changes were made was to reflect other training that the agents would have received.

So the focus of 29 and 43 questions was primarily on Code of Conduct.  So that was our initial focus when we rolled out the OEA program.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what do you do with the test?  It is a multiple-choice test?  We've heard --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Yes, sorry, it is a multiple-choice test, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  What do you do with the test once it is written?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is filed at head office.  So the test is submitted to head office.

And as I've mentioned, the test has to be completed before the badge is issued, and then we do an audit back at the compliance department to make sure all active agents have completed the test.

MR. SELZNICK:  What happens if, on a yearly basis, an active agent fails the test?

MS. GIRARDI:  They are required to retake it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you go to tab 6 of binder 2 for a second?

Can you describe these documents for us?

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, this is a -– an OEA, Ontario Energy Association registry agreement and indemnity.  It was one of the initiatives that paralleled the roll-out of the training manual.

And the committee had worked towards developing a registry where it would house agent information regarding certification status.  So there would be -- whether they completed the certification.  And it would prevent -- it would -- and it would -- the purpose of the registry was to prevent agents selling for other marketers.

So if Summitt was entering an agent into the database, and there was the agent information based on driver's license or an identifier -- was notified that this agent was active with another marketer, there would be an administrator who would reconcile that conflict.  And we would have to resolve who this agent was working for.

The registry has not yet been implemented.  It has been put on hold, because we are trying to find an administrator.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is that still an active project of your subcommittee?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That would be something that we would still be --

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me or can you identify for us in the materials any other programs or industry initiatives that the subcommittee of the OEA is working on or has worked on?

MS. GIRARDI:  The committee currently is -- has submitted comments on the Board's revised Code of Conduct, and the comments went in on September 13th -- oh, no, 3rd, Sorry.  Haven't gotten there yet.

So the committee is a forum for retailers in Ontario to get together and submit common position papers on industry issues.

We have also -- committee has also participated in an open -- Queen's Park open-house day, when the Energy Consumer Protection Act was evolving.

MR. SELZNICK:  Let's move now to the complaints in question in these cases as presented.  There is some 19 or so for which evidence has been presented.

Let me ask you, firstly, what role complaints play in your business.  Is it a valuable component for Summitt Energy to know about complaints?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Complaints are a tool that we use to gauge consumer satisfaction in product and consumer satisfaction in sales experience, and satisfaction with customer service.

It is part of our business that we deal with complaints, and we respond to them in order to improve practices.

MR. SELZNICK:  Right.  So you sat with me last week, and you heard evidence with respect to each of the five agents identified in the notice of intention and you heard evidence about those complaints.

We are going to speak to them in groups in a second, but just to summarize, each of those agents work for a marketing company; correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And each of those agents was an independent contractor?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And each of those –- and those independent contractor agreements are the ones we referred to in tab 4 of binder 2, when you referred to them?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. SELZNICK:  So let's start with G.W., for example, as an agent.

Ms. Lindenberg has the various binders there, if you want to refer to them.  Just before we actually do that, for a second, I have a more general question to ask you, while you are just flipping there.

In some the binders, in some of the complainants that we looked at last week -- or actually, I will start with this.

In the complainants we looked at last week, I don't recall any of them, in the 19 or so that were looked at, where the response to the CCR from Summitt Energy was that:  We verified that an infraction had occurred, and we are taking remedial action on an infraction; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Right.  In all of those cases except I think one, and the one, I don't have my binders in front of me -- I think it is M -- D.M. -- were noted as closed and the one was noted as still an open complaint.  Is that your recollection?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Having said that and not having admitted that you actually determined that there was an infraction that had occurred on your side, there were several of the agreements where you terminated the contract, even though you found no infraction and you said the reaffirmation call was verified?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  One, for example, I think it is A.S.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That was, um...

MR. SELZNICK:  Why would you cancel a contract that you felt was legitimate in the first instance?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe the -- well, the customer did testify to that, A.S., and she supports the reason which Summitt Energy cancelled for.  It was based on her income level.

MR. SELZNICK:  So are there internal policies at Summitt Energy about allowing a cancellation of a contract even if it is validly entered into?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That is common practice in the industry, as well.  There are humanitarian or compassionate grounds that we cancel.

MR. SELZNICK:  So let's now go back to looking at these agents, in particular.  Let's start with G.W.

And if I may have perhaps the assistance of Mr. Beitchman here.  There are three binders with respect to G.W.?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you have those there?  How did these complaints come to your attention, these specific complaints come to your attention?

MS. GIRARDI:  In some cases, the complaint would have come to our attention through the OEB.  But I believe in most cases the customer would have had some contact with Summitt Energy before going to the OEB.  So it would have been through our call centre.

MR. SELZNICK:  And are those call centre communications, for example, in the transcripts, would be calling up to ask about was there a verification call, those types of things?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  How do you evaluate the complaint in accordance with your complaint review process?  In these complaints, how did you evaluate these complaints?

MS. GIRARDI:  The Summitt Energy's customer service department has a QA department in there, a sub-group, where when a customer is questioning their contract and questioning whether they reaffirmed the contract, or not, or their understanding of the contract, we would evaluate the -- we would look at the contract itself that was signed, and we would review the reaffirmation call and determine whether the contract is valid or not.

MR. SELZNICK:  And I am going to ask you another question in a moment, but I just wanted to perhaps find a representative sample.  So if you look at, for example, the binder for witness A.G., which is registration contract number F0990096?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am just pulling it out as an example.  And if we look at the consumer complaint response on that one, which is at tab G?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you look at page 3 of that document?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you look sort of half way down the page, I guess these are the presentation of the boxes that you filled in or your staff filled in in response.

The question:
"Detailed action to be undertaken within the licensee to address systemic issue or clarify position, including actions such as agent retraining, agent discipline, call centre script change, et cetera"


Your comment is:
"The complaint was forwarded to the sales manager for review and retraining purposes."

Now, that seems to me to be a common reply for quite a number -- not all, but quite a number of the complaints.  And if you look at the paragraph immediately above that, your resolution comment is, among other things:
"Summitt is of the opinion the contract is valid."

Do you see that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  So in those circumstances where you think the contract is invalid, I have a two-part question and maybe you can answer:  One, why would you forward to the sales manager for review and retraining to begin with; and, secondly, what do you mean by "review and retraining purposes"?

MS. GIRARDI:  All complaints would be -- Summitt Energy forwards all agent complaints in its reporting structure to the sales agencies.  And the reason for that is to sensitize the sales agent in regards to consumer feedback and to address the feedback that is provided by the consumers.

So obviously we don't want that to happen again, so -- we want to make sure that the agent is aware that the complaints are coming in, the sales manager is aware, as well, and that they are addressed with the sales agent.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what does the phrase, my second part of the question -- I apologize for asking you a two-parter, but what does -- the phrase "complaint was forwarded to the sales manager for review and retraining purposes", what is your expectation out of that instruction?

MS. GIRARDI:  That the complaint be reviewed with the sales agent and that the agent be made aware of it, and that any improvements regarding the sales conduct, as required, to address any of the issues.

But the idea of the complaints is -- is we are not advising the sales agency that we have made a determination one way or another on the validity of the complaint.

What we are doing is communicating to the agency that this is the information we are receiving and that they're to take that into account when making further presentations.

MR. SELZNICK:  And would this result in a dialogue with the agency on what the retraining purpose might be in a particular case?

MS. GIRARDI:  My dialogue with the agency?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  So let's -- G.W., then, I am going to ask you three questions, because I think you have a time line to refer to this.  So let me know, on these cases, sort of what steps did Summitt take regarding the sales agent and these complaints, and what did you do to follow up, and what actual remediation did you sort of mandate for them?  Maybe you can walk us through those three.

MS. GIRARDI:  Sure.  At the back of the presentation in binder 3, tab 1, there are a series of tables which have the agent's name on top of them.  So the first one is G.W., and the first complaint, March 2nd is the complaint date that we received it -- Summitt received the complaint, and it refers to customer C.L., and --

MR. SELZNICK:  Just if I could stop you there, and I apologize for interrupting, but that is the complaint date.  It is not the date the transaction giving rise to the complaint occurred?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  March 4th is when there would have been -- March 4th, the OEA certification with respect to G.W., occurred, and, as I mentioned earlier, code of conduct requirements, agent expectations would have been discussed at that training session.

And G.W.'s recertification and test is located in the binders.  I believe we referred to it before.  So that would have been completed March 4th.

On March 22nd, the complaint date for Z.P. arrived.  On June 18th, 2009, there was a Summitt Energy compliance meeting with the sales agency regarding the complaints received during that period.  And in that report there would have -- Z.P.'s complaint would have been in there.

October 23rd, there was another compliance meeting and there would have -- we would have discussed any complaints and all complaints received between the June 18th and October time frame.

December 29th, the complaint for A.G. came in, and in April 16 -- on April 16th, there was a meeting, and, after that meeting, Summitt issued the compliance notice to the sales agency for G.W. requesting that -- again, it was a formal communication tool that we used to request retraining and that retraining be formalized.

I believe G.W. testified that during that time period there was an in-field session that took place between he and his manager.

MR. SELZNICK:  Just for my edification, these dates, again, refer to the dates that you took action or received communications from the OEB with respect to the complaint, not when the circumstance giving rise to the complaint arose?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  So if, for example, the complaint from A.G., F0990096, that you received, I take it, on December 16th, 2009 --

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- that relates to an alleged complaint that arose -- the circumstances arose on September 27th, 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am looking at the date that they --

MS. GIRARDI:  That's right.

MR. SELZNICK:  So that would have been before the meeting with the sales -- you wouldn't have known about that at the time you had your Summitt Energy compliance meeting with the sales agency on October 23rd?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  So what steps did you take to ensure -- maybe you addressed this, but let me just repeat it -- what steps did you take to ensure that the marketing agency followed up on those compliance issues with the agent?

MS. GIRARDI:  There would have been the meetings that took place where we reviewed G.W.'s performance, and then there was the formal compliance notice that was issued.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That all appears from the document, Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  I'm just –

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am hoping we are not going to go through every agent --

MR. SELZNICK:  No.  I'm just going to have her identify the documents per agent.  But I think it is important to understand the chronology and where it relates to the circumstance giving rise to it, because simply not referring to -- simply referring to the actual complaint date and remediation doesn't give rise to the fact that it may have happened before.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think you made that point three times now.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SELZNICK:  If we look at agent A.T. for a second, which is the next timeline there?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes?

MR. SELZNICK:  Just for expediency, can I take it that how you became aware of these complaints and how you evaluate them, all five of these agents, it was a similar fashion in the compliance program?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Can you just walk us through this timeline?  And there may be a correction you have to the ordering of the --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I did -- there is a mix-up in the order, but I will correct that.

So March 18th we received a complaint from the OEB regarding customer J.M.  Then that is where the switch has to happen, sorry.

On April 14th -- and I believe A.T. testified to this -- there was a meeting at Summitt Energy's head office concerning complaints received, A.T.'s complaints.

So there was a meeting that happened at our head office.  A.T.'s sales manager was there.  We discussed complaints received, we reviewed sales presentation, made recommended changes, and a formal compliance notice was issued on March –- sorry, that would have been March 5th.

It was returned to us on April 14th.  And the meeting took place on April 14th.

Then the complaint came in on May 25th for A.Z., and May 27th we had -- as part of our regular scheduled compliance meeting with the agency, A.T.'s complaints would have been discussed.

July 3rd, another complaint comes in from J.M.  Scheduled compliance meeting on July 20th.  There's an OEA certification for the entire agency on July 27th.  And there is another, sorry, switch that needs to take place.

On August 25th we issued a fine, which A.T, testified, which ultimately resulted in Summitt terminating its relationship with him.

MR. SELZNICK:  He hasn't returned as a sales agent to Summitt Energy since that time?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

So this example shows that -- a variety of tools used.  There was the regular scheduled compliance meetings, there was a compliance notice, and then there was a fine.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if we can go now to agent M.G.?

MS. GIRARDI:  M.G., September 16th complaint from J.W.  September 23rd, complaint from C.S.  A.H., October 16th meeting, you will notice the same agency and same date -- oh, he doesn't cover that period, but October 16th, '09.

On May 9th of '09 there was a meeting where we called in M.G.

MR. SELZNICK:  I think you said November 9th?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, November 9th.  Again, his presentation was reviewed.  That meeting lasted two hours.  We went through the presentations, we went through the complaints, we issued a compliance notice that was signed that day.

Another complaint came in.  It was reviewed a couple of weeks after at our regular scheduled compliance meetings.

Then there was a complaint from J.T. on January 25th.  Complaint from D.M. on February 1st.

This complaint escalated to the media.  And in addressing the complaints since December's -- 11th meeting, we issued -- we clawed back the commission.

And we had another scheduled meeting on February 11th.  And the agent was terminated on June 18th.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can we then speak to agent G.S.?


MS. GIRARDI:  G.S., complaint May 4th regarding P.K.  The OEA certification on May 13th and training.

There was a complaint April 6th -– sorry, that is reversed.  May 16th was the meeting –- sorry.  Correct myself.  The agent certification was March 13th.  We had a compliance scheduled meeting March 22nd, and two complaints came in after that meeting, on April 6th and June 11th.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And agent A.B.?

MS. GIRARDI:  A.B., slightly different scenario.  His complaints came in all at one time, the feedback.

So December 18th, '09 there is a complaint on V.T.  Then February 1st, 2nd and 2nd, there is complaints regarding T.V, Z.A. and P S.

We had a compliance meeting on the 11th.  In addition to that, those specific complaints, you will see in tab -- I believe tab 12F is a sample -– no, that's not it.

Tab 14 B.  You will see that there is an e-mail from compliance specialist at Summitt Energy, notifying that sales agent NC 4096, the text of the OEB complaint is forwarded to the manager with instructions to review the complaint, and advise Summitt of the action taken to address the issues outlined in the consumer's complaint.

That was done in three of the complaints.

MR. SELZNICK:  And what was the outcome of, for example, that e-mail, where you asked to -- for feedback from the agency?  What was the response?

MS. GIRARDI:  That when the agent would have attended the weekly meetings, compliance staff would have -- that would have been one of the actions we followed up.  And we would have been advised that the complaints were reviewed with the sales agent, and any retraining or in-field training would have taken place.

So there would have been an acknowledgement that -- that the e-mail was received, and it was discussed with the sales agent.

MR. SELZNICK:  And was it your office that made the determination of the appropriate penalty, for example, of a fine or the claw-back or retraining or sensitization, as you mentioned?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Let's just move on now to a couple of more general questions I know the Board had, and then we will talk about one other subject.

There was this issue of liquidated damages that's been mentioned a number of times?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  When a customer called up to cancel, that generated the output of a letter from your office about early termination and early termination payment, be it for electricity or for gas.

Can you explain that process to us?  You mentioned in the terms and conditions where that came from.  Can you explain, though, the process when the call comes in and the generation of that letter and what those numbers are?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.  The liquidated calculation is based on two components.

One is the rate which is outlined in the terms and conditions for natural gas.  It is nine cents, and I believe for electricity it is 1.9 cents per kilowatt-hour.

And the second part, that rate is multiplied by the unused portion of -- the energy consumption of the -- remaining on the consumer's contract.

So if a customer calls in in year 2 of their contract, the rate would be applied on the unused portion for the three years.  And the way we -- the consumption total is arrived at based on the customer's previous 12 month's historical consumption.

If the customer would have called at the time of signing and we didn't have the historical consumption, we would use a typical profile, so for -- of a residential consumer. So for natural gas it would be 2,700 and for electricity it would be 9,750.

So we would use a typical profile.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain for me why some of these complaint holders have multiple sort of exit fee letters bearing sequential dates with different amounts of fee in them?

MS. GIRARDI:  The LD calculation is revised at the time the customer makes the request, and it will change depending on the historical consumption information we have at the time.

So at the outset, we may not have it and we use a typical profile, and as the customer is consuming more and we have more historical, we would update that.

MR. SELZNICK:  So would it be triggered by the call, for example, the consumer makes?  If a consumer calls and questions the contract and doesn't recall it and wants out of the contract, you generate one of those letters?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  If they call back again, that would generate another letter?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  The second letter might have different numbers, because you have a better perspective of what the amount would be?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, you made mention or we heard mention last week of some of the material on the back of the terms and conditions form.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And there is a chart on some of the terms.  You may want to just turn to the sales manual, the sales kit, volume 1 at tab 2.  I guess you can choose which one you would like to talk about.

But there is a chart concerning trending.  Can you take a look at that for a moment?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you just explain that?  I think there was some confusion about that chart in the evidence of some of the witnesses.

MS. GIRARDI:  If you take the first one, which is 

at --

MR. SELZNICK:  Tab A -- 2A?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  No.  I don't think there is one...

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, that one, actually, if you open that inside, it has Enbridge and Union Gas historical gas rates.  I think the -- that is what that one has.

The one under tab B has -- at the back has --

MR. SELZNICK:  I think tab C is where the questions were from before.

MS. GIRARDI:  Tab C, okay.  It has AECO index pricing.  So AECO, I think it stands for Alberta Exchange Company.  Don't quote me on that.  But it is representative of the spot price that natural gas is traded at.

MR. SELZNICK:  So what is the purpose of this chart?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is to indicate the trend in natural gas prices.

MR. SELZNICK:  And how does that compare with trending in, I guess, the utility pricing for gas?

MS. GIRARDI:  It would have a similar trend.  It would vary.  I mean, the -- you know, utility prices have fluctuated in the past several years, but the trend would be on an upward trend.

MR. SELZNICK:  How do you know that?

MS. GIRARDI:  The...

MR. SELZNICK:  How do you know that utility trending would be similar to the AECO trending?

MS. GIRARDI:  The utility prices would be arrived at, I would think, using AECO spot prices.  I am not an expert in the field but...

MR. SELZNICK:  Why would you use that chart rather than the utility pricing?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is one tool to depict the volatility in the natural gas market and the trend.

MR. SELZNICK:  Right.

Is your pricing tied to that market rather than utility pricing?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  Summitt's price is a five-year forward price.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, just if you wouldn't mind for a moment, can we go to the training manual again?  And, despite this chart, can you tell us how you train the agents to talk about the utility pricing --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- or direct the Board to that training process?

MS. GIRARDI:  So in binder 2, tab C, page 5, those would -- the chart there indicates historical Union Gas and Enbridge prices.  All sales agents would be aware of the utility prices, both natural gas and electricity, when they are marketing.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this chart, for example, on tab 1C of binder K4.5 is the utility pricing?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  If you can see the noted points, natural gas prices have risen 358 percent from 1999 to 2008, that is somewhat, in your mind, an example of the same chart that appears --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Since 1998, I believe, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I think there were a couple of other small questions that came out of the Board's original questions.  One dealt with the second page of the -- do we have the second page of the --

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, yes.  There was a question around the second page of G.W.'s test, so we have that.  So we can file that with the Board.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Do we want to take a moment and do that now or simply --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can undertake to do that.

MR. SELZNICK:  We will undertake to do that.  We also had -- and the evidence of L.M., I believe his evidence was that he didn't have a communication from Summitt Energy in response to his first e-mail communication.

I think we have an e-mail response, which Ms. Lindenburg has, as well, that we can file in his binder.  Thank you.  Just to complete the record on that.

So just on that same -- just to go back to complete the loop on that same terms and conditions, where do you get the electricity numbers for on the comparison chart?

MS. GIRARDI:  Those are utility rates.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry.  This was a question I know the Board asked a number of times.

A number of complainants noted that, and their registration forms show, that they never completed the portion of the electricity registration that included their account number for their electricity account.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Yet they had flow and they were receiving service on electricity from Summitt Energy.

So perhaps, more generally, where does Summitt Energy get both the gas account numbers and the electricity numbers in the registration forms if they're not provided at the door?

MS. GIRARDI:  The gas number -- if a customer, when signing up on our program, doesn't provide a gas utility account number, the utilities, under the Gas Distribution Act rules, have a service which is known as account look-up.  You would submit customer information to the utility and you would get an account number.

With respect to electricity, that service is not provided by the LDCs, and we would -- the only way we would receive that account number is by calling the customer and obtaining it.

MR. SELZNICK:  Do you call the customer to obtain it?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Where in the process do you communicate with the gas company for the look-up or call the consumer for the account number?

MS. GIRARDI:  With respect to electricity, the only time -- we will call the customer after the contract is reaffirmed.  So there is no point in calling them before.  And with the electricity --

MR. SELZNICK:  I think that was electricity.

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry.  For gas, I believe it is either one or the other, that we may call before the reaffirmation or we may call after the reaffirmation.  I am not clear on that.  But I know for electricity, because it involves engaging our call centre, that that undertaking is only done after it is reaffirmed.

MR. SELZNICK:  So clearly on the electricity side of things, if you have their account number for electricity, it had to have come from a communication with you by telephone --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- with the consumer, despite their protestations that they don't recall those calls?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Thank you.

So, Ms. Girardi, when did you learn about the OEB's plan to proceed with the notice of intention of June 17th?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe it was the day before.

MR. SELZNICK:  So there hadn't been any prior discussion concerning that?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  So there was no notification from you and no notification to you, nor any meetings with the Board, about compliance issues in January or February or March or April or May or June of that year?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  I want to take you back now -- sorry.  I want to take you back to January 30th, 2009 and the order and related voluntary compliance agreement that was signed by Summitt Energy concerning reaffirmation calls.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. SELZNICK:  And those documents - and I will refer you to the binder of Ms. Marijan - were entered into in that process.  If you have it handy, they are just for your reference.

Now, you recall this order and the voluntary compliance agreement?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't have it in front of me, but I do recall it.

MR. SELZNICK:  It is at tab I.

MS. GIRARDI:  Mine doesn't have it, but...

MR. SELZNICK:  We will get one to you shortly.

MS. GIRARDI:  Thank you.  Yes?

MR. SELZNICK:  So in the attached voluntary compliance agreement -- you are familiar with this agreement?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Item number 3 of the voluntary compliance agreement, you committed to establish a reaffirmation agent discipline program similar to your existing door-to-door agent program?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  You did do that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  And in item 4, has this 18-month period of compliance expired?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Were there any -- were there any defaults under that, under this voluntary compliance order?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  Thank you.

And can you tell me what your expectation of your existing door-to-door agent program was on -- and its compliance with the OEB's expectations on January 30th, 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  My expectation is that the reaffirmation agent discipline program that was implemented and designed to respond to the voluntary order was similar to the door-to-door agent program that we had, which would have outlined the same processes in terms of providing feedback to the agents, the reaffirmation agents, and remedial action, that it was satisfactory to the Board.

MR. SELZNICK:  So is your evidence that whatever you were doing with the day-to-day -- the door-to-door salesmen and your compliance program, at least on January 30th 2009 was satisfactory to the Board?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can you look at tab 9 of binder 3 for a moment -- tab A there for a moment?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  It is a letter of February 12th, 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Addressed to you, from Jill Bada, manager, compliance?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell me what this letter relates to?

MS. GIRARDI:  This letter outlines a new process that the compliance department was implementing, is my understanding, with respect to CCR responses.  The CCR program was rolled out in September of '08.

And the letter communicates to -- and I understand this is -- a similar letter was sent to all retailers in Ontario, and it outlines that the compliance staff will be providing summaries of their review of the CCR responses, Summitt Energy CCR responses, and the expectation is that any issues addressed in the reports provided to the -- to Summitt would be looked at, addressed, and there would be a response sent back to the Board.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is it fair to say this is a monitoring process?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you expect it to be limited in time, or just ongoing?

MS. GIRARDI:  I expect it to be ongoing.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain the rest of the documents behind this tab, then?

MS. GIRARDI:  The documents include a summary of the CCRs issues that were -- are being communicated to Summitt.  And they cover the period from -- CCRs received October 2008, November, December, and they go all the way to -- continuously to April 2009.

So Summitt Energy would have received the monthly reviews from the OEB from the period of October 2008 to April 2009.

MR. SELZNICK:  Then what did you do when you got those?

MS. GIRARDI:  We responded to the Board.  We reviewed the feedback, reviewed the complaints, did our analysis and provided a response to the Board on our findings.

In addition to, like, communication through these reports, there were also meetings that took place with the manager -- Jill Bada at the time -- and one of the compliance analysts in the department, to go over the issues.

MR. SELZNICK:  And through this period, you were continuing to follow the OEB's complaint process, that if you got a CCR notification, you would complete and file the form?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you confirm that in all of the 19 or so cases that are before the Board now, these compliance cases and complaints, that you did respond to the CCR notification within the required 21-day period?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And can you go to tab J of that same item?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you tell us what this document is?

MS. GIRARDI:  This document is a letter from Summitt Energy to one of the compliance specialists at the OEB, and it is our response to the CCR reports of March and April of 2009.

MR. SELZNICK:  And would you go to page 2 of that letter --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- for a moment?  And can you see that item 4 at the bottom of the page in your report?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you confirm that the sales agent complaint-to-contract-enrolment ratio for Q4 2008 and Q1 2009 was less than 1 percent?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Less than 1 percent of what?

MS. GIRARDI:  Enrolment, contracts enrolled.

MR. SELZNICK:  Was that -- is it fair to say that percentage continued through 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  So it is a fair statement to say 
that --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- the ratio for the balance was 1 percent of enrolments?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

And what happened to this monitoring process?

MS. GIRARDI:  After the May 22nd report issued, we didn't receive any further communication regarding -- in this format, regarding CCRs.

MR. SELZNICK:  It just stopped?  You didn't --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And there was no explanation?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  No.

MR. CINCAR:  And did you get any response to any of these responses that you put into the --

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  Other than a dialogue on the conference calls, but...

MR. SELZNICK:  And then what happened between June 11th, 2009 -- the date of this letter we just looked at at tab J -- what happened between June 11th, 2009 and the notice of intention of June 17th, 2010?  Did your processes change at all?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  And at what point in this process was that OEB submission -– sorry, the OEA submission posted on the OEB website?

MS. GIRARDI:  That was June 2009.

MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  And I think you heard Ms. Marijan gave evidence that in late 2008 she was advised to prepare some reports based upon a change in policy internally at the OEB.  Do you recall that?

MS. GIRARDI:  I think it was 2009.

MR. SELZNICK:  2009.  Do you recall that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Were you made aware of that?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  And you also heard Ms. Marijan, in her evidence, speak to the fact that in the first part of 2010 she was asked to investigate specifically into Summitt Energy?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And did you receive any notification of that?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.  And did you have any reason to believe that you were not in compliance generally with the OEB complaint handling process up until the time you received the notice of intention?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Now, when the notice of intention of June 17th came out, it was accompanied by an Interim Order as well.  Do you recall that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  And maybe at this point, it may be a good point to introduce this evidence.

We had it separately, but Mr. Tunley has been kind enough to provide it as a compendium.

We have a compendium of documents of compliance counsel that include, if I can just look here, the interim compliance order, the Procedural Order No. 1, and several letters from our firm that deal with the response to the Interim Order.

Perhaps -- I think Board counsel has a copy of this document -- if we could have it entered as an exhibit, I would like to discuss it and present it to the witness.

MR. DUFFY:  I believe all of these documents have already been filed with the Board, but we will mark this particular compendium as an exhibit, and it will be K6.4.

And it is compendium of documents of compliance counsel. 
EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS OF COMPLIANCE COUNSEL.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Do you have that compendium at hand?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SELZNICK:  If I could take you to the very first tab.  This is the interim compliance order?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if I could take you to page 2 of that order?

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  This order does not contain any interim suspension on Summitt Energy's activities?

MS. GIRARDI:  No, correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  What was your understanding that this order required you to do?

MS. GIRARDI:  It outlines four points:  Initially take on a series of steps to ensure agents act in accordance with certain sections of the OEB Act in regards to its fair marketing practices; ensure that all sales agents act in accordance with section 2(1) of the Code of Conduct, which talks about identification and representation of the product, identification being from Summitt.


Number 3, addresses the delivery of the written copy of the agreement, and number 4:
"Summitt shall provide information to the Board as required with respect to the steps taken to ensure compliance."

MR. SELZNICK:  And if I take you to tab number 3 of this same compendium --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- when you received this interim order, I take it people at Summitt Energy obviously did something?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. SELZNICK:  Can you explain the steps you took related to that as opposed to the notice of intention itself?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  On June 30th we responded to the Board.

MR. SELZNICK:  Is that the letter at tab 3?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, at tab 3.  And we took it upon ourselves to address the matters in the order and put processes in place to address the issues outlined in the order, and we initiated several changes within our company.

And the first change was a sales verification process, and that -- we refer to that as a quality assurance call at the time of the sale.  So we developed a script, which is used by our customer service agents.  There is a dialogue with the consumer after the contract is signed, at the time of the sale.

MR. SELZNICK:  I am not wanting to interrupt you, but is that the script that is attached to this letter?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  So we filed our script with the Board.  And the body of the script, the questions that we ask start towards the end of the page, the bottom part of the page, and we ask that the consumer confirm that they have a copy of the agreement; that the sales agent was wearing their ID badge; that they made it clear that we weren't affiliated with the government, the utility or the OEB; that they are the account holder, the spouse; that the program is voluntary; they understand the program doesn't guarantee savings or provide rebates.

We also have a question around age to ensure customers understand the program if they're over the age of 70.  We also advise they're going to be getting a reaffirmation call.

MR. SELZNICK:  So this call -- sorry to interrupt your evidence, but this call is in addition to the reaffirmation call?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  This call is made while the agent is at the door?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry.  Continue.

MS. GIRARDI:  The other feature of the quality assurance call is that if the CSR who is completing the call hears the agent speaking through the call, the call is ended and the sales agents know that, and they can't continue with the call.  We have a five-day cooling-off period where the agent can't approach the customer within that time frame, if we hear any -- any dialogue on the agent -- sales agent's behalf.

It is not outlined in this question.  I think it is outlined in a further document, but we also audit 20 percent of those calls.  So a member of the compliance staff will audit the -- 20 percent of the QA calls, and there is a weekly report that goes out to the customer service department and the sales department which provides feedback on the calls, both from a customer service perspective and from the sales agent perspective.

If the customer cannot positively affirm all of the items on the call, the call ends and the contract can't proceed.  In order to enroll the contract - this is back at the operations side of it - we match up the contract import with the sales quality call, and, if there is no call, the contract -- the enrolment does not continue.

The other point -- initiative we took, I just want to skip 2 and 3 for a second and go to 4 - we changed our agreements.  We no longer have two-part agreements.  The terms and conditions are now part of the registration form, and we now call the document a price protection agreement.

There is disclosure around our affiliate -- that we are not affiliated with Summitt Energy.

MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, that we are not affiliated with the utility or the OEB.

We ask the customer to acknowledge that they understand the contract.  There is disclosure around provincial benefit, and we actually call it global adjustment.

We also implemented a disclosure form, which is --

MR. SELZNICK:  Is that attached to the form?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is in there, yes.  It is in here.  It is not numbered, but it is schedule C, and the under the heading "About This Agreement", we talk about who Summitt Energy is and that we are not affiliated with any utility.  We talk about the agreement being voluntary.  We talk about the global adjustment, that the customer may see that as a credit or a charge, and it varies monthly on their bill.

The customer will continue to be responsible for other charges on the utility.  So our charge is the commodity charge.  And we talk about exit fees if they early terminate.

And, again, the disclosure form has to be submitted signed in order for the contract to be processed.

MR. SELZNICK:  And do you want to talk about items 2 and 3?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  So items 2 and 3 deal with enhancements we are making in our complaint -- consumer complaint reporting.

The first one talks about -- are general, not specific to agent.  It is our general complaint reporting.  We have implemented different categories where now we are classifying complaints to mirror the OEB's website issues, consumer reporting.  So we have added categories which we would be reporting on.

And the third point - I have touched upon it - deals with our agent complaint tracking system and deals with our remedial -- our point system and our remedial action plan.

And the other initiative we took, we completed -- we rolled out code of conduct training for all of our offices at this time.

MR. SELZNICK:  So if we can just sort of categorize the kind of complaints among the five agents that are cited in the notice of intention, the 19 or so for which evidence has been provided, under this new procedure since about June 30th, we have pre June 30th complaints that allege the terms and conditions weren't given.

So in that circumstance where maybe the registration is alleged to have been provided, but not the terms and conditions or the brochure that contain them, on matters occurring after June 30th, once this new system was implemented, are those kinds of claims possible now?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  We confirm at three different points that the customer has received the contract.  In addition to revisions in our format, they will get a copy of the terms and conditions at the time of signing.  It is one document.  We confirm it on the quality assurance call that they have it, and we confirm it on the verification call.

MR. SELZNICK:  That is the point I was getting to.  It is now one document.  It is not two separate documents?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  For the consumer to have the -- what was formerly the registration form, they would now have the registration form and --

MS. GIRARDI:  And the terms and conditions, yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Attached to the letter you just spoke to at tab 3, is one of those exhibits how that registration form looks?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  The terms and --

MS. GIRARDI:  You can see that it is now called "Price Protection Agreement" and the terms and conditions are at the back.

MR. SELZNICK:  And if we group the complaints that are in these 28 or so pre-June 17th, concerning agent identification and allegations that they are from the utility, that would be addressed now through this on -- at the doorstep reaffirmation call?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  I just wanted to add we have since revised our terms and conditions to move the consumer's rights and buyer's right to cancel, sections 14 and 15.  We now have them at just before the appointment of agent begins.  So we have moved them up.

MR. SELZNICK:  And just as a concluding question, this response to the interim application, these are voluntary proposals you have made?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. SELZNICK:  They weren't mandated as things you must do, other than having to respond to the notice of intention -- the interim order?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

Those are our questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Selznick.

Mr. Tunley, it would appear this is a good point to take a short break.  I am thinking 15 or 20 minutes.

Now, that -- we do have a deadline at the end of this.

So if you think you need that 15 or 20 minutes, tell me now, or forever hold your peace.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am ready to proceed, but think it would help to take, let's say, until 25 to.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's give everybody a bit of a break and go to 20 to.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I am in your hands.

MR. SELZNICK:  As I noted, I can stay until 2:30.  I don't want to rush my friend.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break until 20 minutes to 1:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 12:23 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 12:46 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Tunley.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Ms. Girardi, I am assuming, since you have been in the room, you know who I act for and I don't need to explain that.

You are aware, of course, of the retail compliance plan, the Board Staff report, which was issued August 11, 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was referred to in Ms. Marijan's evidence.  We marked small extracts from it.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But you will agree with me that is a document that you were aware of at the time it was issued?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, it was part of the OEB's investigation that it was conducting at the time across all retailers.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you agree it is a report that is very relevant to your responsibilities in the area of compliance?

MS. GIRARDI:  It reflected all -- it summarized the business practices of all retailers in Ontario.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And, specifically, it has sections dealing with sales agent training, monitoring, reaffirmation calls, all of the things that are before the Board in these proceedings?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And all things that are within your area of responsibility, from a compliance point of view?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so I suggest you read it carefully when it came out.  You would have been interested to know what your competitors were doing and --

MS. GIRARDI:  In 2009, yes, we -- yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And we didn't mark the entire report, because Mr. Selznick had not read it at the time we started, but I would like to mark the entire report as the next exhibit, unless there is an objection.

MR. SELZNICK:  I do have an objection to marking the entire report, because it does refer to -- it brings us back to the first issue, which is referring to other complaints in a very abstract way without any specificity of what those complaints are.

In addition - and I think I noted this when Mr. Tunley attempted to introduce the evidence originally - it contains statements about Summitt Energy that are not correct.  That was from my brief reading, and I still hold that position.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that, it would be perfectly appropriate for you to highlight in the context of your argument.

Filing the entire report I think is appropriate, insofar as it does represent the fundamental document in the case, as it were.  The fact that there may not have been evidence with respect to every allegation is something that we have already addressed and indicated that the Board would not be making any -- any findings whatsoever with respect to those incidents, and it would be perfectly appropriate for you to reiterate in your argument the -- that circumstance.

Is there a particular prejudice that you see in having the document admitted, as it originally stood, unexpurgated?

MR. SELZNICK:  My objection would be on the basis that my examination-in-chief, without that document being in, has been completed.

But on top of that, Mr. Tunley is going to present that document to the witness as statement of facts concerning the statements that I say about Summitt Energy are erroneous, and they're erroneous based upon the evidence at hand.  It refers to the voluntary order of compliance of January 30th, 2009 incorrectly.  It makes reference to that as an incorrect reference.

And I don't want that going in as a fact or being put to the witness as fact.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am content it go in subject to the record.  I actually don't intend to rely on it in any way in reference to the prior notice, so...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We would regard that evidence in light of all of the evidence, Mr. Selznick.  We would not regard that as being definitive in any respect.  Is that your concern?

MR. SELZNICK:  Well, it is not necessarily definitive.  It is wrong, and if...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can make those corrections explicitly in your argument, and I think without fear of much contradiction.

MR. SELZNICK:  Well, I am not sure really, then, what the purpose is.  If the question is, Is the witness aware of the document and did she read it, I am not sure what value of having the document in is, if it has incorrect references in it, specifically to the client.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the Board is more comfortable having the entire document in the record, because it almost -- it is a fundamental document within the context of the proceeding.  That some elements may not have been proved is clear, and that some elements may be subject to more specific commentary from you in the course of your argument is also clear.

And if any of the statements that you think are unproved are put to the witness as though they have been proved, I would expect you to object strenuously.

MR. SELZNICK:  We will.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we would give effect to that objection.  But barring that, I think the document should go in, because it is a milestone in the architecture of the proceeding.

So on that basis...

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  We have copies to hand out, and I will ask Board counsel to just give it the next exhibit number.

MR. DUFFY:  It will be marked as Exhibit K6.5, and it is the retail compliance plan, Staff report, August 11, 2009.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.5:  UNEXPURGATED COPY OF RETAIL COMPLIANCE PLAN, STAFF REPORT, AUGUST 11, 2009.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

Ms. Girardi, if I may just confirm with you the process, there was an on-site inspection of five of the energy marketers, including Summitt, as I understand it, in 2008 --

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- as part of the process?

Then there was the various correspondence with Summitt Energy and other marketers from the Board, which you referred to in your evidence.  I believe it is tab 9 of binder 3.  There were a series of letters back and forth between the OEB and Summitt Energy about complaints issues, specifically?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And then the report issued then in August 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is Exhibit K6.5; right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And what it does is simply to compare the practices, some divergent practices, of five marketers on a no-names basis in several areas that include matters before the Board today.  You are aware, for example, of sales agent model and compensation being addressed in section 6.2?

MS. GIRARDI:  It has been a while since I looked at the report.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am just asking you to confirm.  You can even just look at the index.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I have it in front of me.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Agent recruitment was addressed; agent training and certification in section 6.4?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sales scripts, marketing and materials?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Quality monitoring and quality assurance in 6.6?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And complaint management.  All issues that we are dealing with today; right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  On page 11, if I just take you to page 11, the point is made in the third last paragraph from the bottom that approximately 70 percent of all consumer complaints received by the Board relate to sales agent conduct related to misrepresentation and aggressive sales tactics.

Were you aware of that at the time that the report was released?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And is that consistent with Summitt's own experience, that that is the focus of a large portion of the complaints as opposed to enquiries?

MS. GIRARDI:  I haven't completed that analysis.  Complaints come from or deal with a variety of issues.  They deal with consumers not receiving their reimbursements on time, not receiving perhaps the reaffirmation call or the contract requested within the expected time frames.

They do deal with agent complaints.  They deal with market trends, expectations on our program, customer service levels.  So it does vary.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

In terms of overall experience, your experience is not very different from what is reported here as the overall industry experience?

MS. GIRARDI:  I would say 70 percent is high on Summitt's experience.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

And am I right that Summitt Energy did not make any changes to its systems and procedures in the various areas that are outlined here in August of 2009 when this report was received?

MS. GIRARDI:  That is not correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  What did you change in 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  The -- through -- as I discussed, through the marketer retailer sector committee, we implemented the OEA training.  That was done first quarter of 2009.  That was a new initiative.

MR. TUNLEY:  Those materials had become available at that time and you implemented those right way?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Following the Board's report in August, did you make any changes at that point?

MS. GIRARDI:  We would have -- there would have been changes around that time with the -- perhaps the structure of our compliance meetings with the sales agencies, perhaps refining, improvements in our compliance notices.

Those are ongoing reviews and changes that we would have undertaken.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You didn't sit down, analyze the report and say:  Here are the various areas where we can do things differently and better, at that point; it was part of an ongoing process?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I just want to go through the areas that are of interest.  I may have reference to the report, if you can keep it by you, but I am really interested -- in terms of sales agent model and compensation, you have told us Summitt uses independent agencies?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I understand it is five different agency distributors in nine offices?  They're non-exclusive?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, where are you referring to?  Can you just take me to a page?

MR. TUNLEY:  I wasn't referring to the report.  I was just asking you about Summitt.

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  At least at the time of this inspection, you were dealing with five different agencies; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's approximately.  I don't have the exact number.

MR. TUNLEY:  And nine different offices?

MS. GIRARDI:  Um....

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you know how many regional offices your agencies have?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  That would –- that would have been right, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And about 150 to 200 agents in 2008?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And we have seen that none of those agents are directly contracted by Summitt; they're independent contractors with the agents?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  In terms of in-house supervisory staff in 2008 --

MS. GIRARDI:  '8 or '9, sorry?

MR. TUNLEY:  2008.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Did you have only two supervisory staff, yourself and one other, in the compliance department?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe so.

MR. TUNLEY:  There were compliance office managers and recruiters in the various regional offices --

MS. GIRARDI:  Mr. Tunley, I am just trying to recollect, because... yes, there were two, sorry, in 2008, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And in the regional offices, the nine or so, there would be an office manager and a recruiter with whom you primarily dealt?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I understand that at some point you brought on these three compliance specialists that you referred to in your evidence?

MS. GIRARDI:  We added a third one, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And where was that?  When was that?

MS. GIRARDI:  I would say in the middle of 2009.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Are they Summitt employees or are they --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- in the agencies?

MS. GIRARDI:  Summitt employees.

MR. TUNLEY:  Are they full-time people, three full-time?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the compensation model you've described to us, you'll agree it is entirely commission-based?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is payable upon reaffirmation or acceptance?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, you took us to your contract.  I will give you the reference.  I think it is binder B2, tab 5A, page 13, if you want to turn that up.

But you told us that claw-back applies if a contract is cancelled within a year.  That is what your contract says?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I recall reading that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Am I right in suggesting to you that in practice, you don't enforce that provision, that you only claw back if the contract is cancelled within three months, in practice?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's not correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  We have heard of several cases where contracts are cancelled within a year, and only one in which a fine was levied, none in which there was agent claw-back of any of the five agents.

Can you explain the difference?

MS. GIRARDI:  Claw-backs are -- I will give you an example of a claw-back.

MR. TUNLEY:  Give me one related to one of the five agents that we have heard testify that they were never subject --

MS. GIRARDI:  That was M.G. in the case of D.M.  That claw-back was related to a consumer complaint, specifically.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was what he called the fine that caused him to end his employment?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  That was A.T.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yeah, A.T. the $500 fine was not -- I wouldn't classify that as a claw-back, because there was --claw-back relates to commissions.  That was a fine.  Specifically, the $500 was a fine.

The claw-back was in regards to M.G., and I believe it is D.M.  And that was regarding a -- specific to the consumer's complaint.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, I will have to come back to that if I need to.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  But certainly you haven't applied claw-back in every case where the contract has been cancelled for the complainants that are before the Board in this proceeding?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me that in terms of actually exercising the right that you have in your contract, you don't exercise it every time?  There is a contract cancellation?

MS. GIRARDI:  Can I answer -- I just want to answer your question by explaining the claw-back process.

It is related to operation matters as well as consumer complaints.  So it is not specific only the claw-back to consumer complaints.  If an account finalizes within six months of a contract, we will claw back commission on the agent, to discourage selling tenants, for example.

So there is an operational phase of claw-backs, and then there is a claw-back related to complaints.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  So I don't have the specific reference in terms of the agreement here.  But I have to see how that is worded.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think I have given you the wording you drew to our attention.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.
"The contract will be paid 100 percent commission... deals submitted... Summitt has the right to claw-back or net-off all commission paid on deals that finalize."

That is the term which means accounts are closed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  During X month of flow.  So that is related to moves.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  There is no other provision in the contract dealing with claw-back, as I read it, other than the one you had pointed out?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  The one agent who was subject to a fine that we heard from, he has told us that he quit, actually quit working for Summitt over a dispute over that fine.  Are you aware of that too?

He didn't regard it as consistent with his terms of employment to be fined.  You heard his evidence?

MS. GIRARDI:  I did hear his evidence, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I am just going to suggest to you that what the Board has heard in terms of the evidence isn't consistent with consistently applying a claw-back mechanism or a fine process in order to create agent incentives towards quality.  It just isn't consistent.

MS. GIRARDI:  We have two examples in this proceeding where there is a discussion of monetary remedial action or punitive measures taken.  And one is a fine and one is claw-back.

MR. TUNLEY:  Two out of 19?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And just moving to the area of agent training, we have heard from you that, at least in 2007, Summitt prepared its own standard training material, and I think you identified that for us at tab 3 of binder 2; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, binder 3, Or 2?

MR. TUNLEY:  Tab 3 of binder 2 -- I'm sorry, no.  I am taking you to the wrong thing.

Tab 1C of binder 2 -- no.

MS. GIRARDI:  I think it is binder 3, tab 2A.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Thank you.

I believe your evidence was this was prepared by Summitt in 2007?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So it would be used for the period 2007.  Did you have anything prior to 2007?

MS. GIRARDI:  Other than what was indicated in the sales training manual, no.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And then I think your evidence is that after 2009, when the OEA material in the other binder at tab 3A became available, you started using that, rather than your own material?

MS. GIRARDI:  For the sales agent certification process, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, are you distinguishing between the certification process and the training?

MS. GIRARDI:  There are instances where specific code of conduct training will be presented to agents outside of the OEA certification.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And so was this material prepared in 2007 still being used for that purpose?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that is after -- even though they have had the OEA training, you would still --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- put them through this process?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is that the complaint-driven process that you have described?

MS. GIRARDI:  In --

MR. TUNLEY:  When would that occur?

MS. GIRARDI:  It would occur as part of feedback, that we would go to the sales agencies and provide feedback on agent complaints.

I would go or our compliance specialist would go to the office, and instead of going through the OEA training, which has a lot of the market material, we would just focus on the dos and don'ts and address the issues in the complaints.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And when the OEA material became available in 2009, we haven't heard that there was any process for existing sales agents, already in your force, to go through that process in addition to the training they had previously received.

MS. GIRARDI:  All existing sales agents would have gone through the certification process.

I believe one of the sales agents -- like, G.W. would have started in 2008.

MR. TUNLEY:  He would have received your in-house training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.  Then when -- the March rollout of the OEA training, he would have re-signed the IC agreement and the test.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  He would have written the test?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But you wouldn't have gone through the --

MS. GIRARDI: He wouldn't have gone through the OEB training.  The test is written right after the training is completed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  He didn't report having two sessions of that kind, as I recall his evidence?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I think he just focussed on the OEA training.

MR. TUNLEY:  So your evidence is that all of your agents who existed as of 2009, when the OEA material -- they were all retrained at that point?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, definitely.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  We rolled out the OEA training to all of our offices.

MR. TUNLEY:  We heard from the witness from one of the agencies - I think K.B. - that he had full discretion as to what he presented from the OEA material and from your own material?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you don't have any contractual right, as I read your contracts, with the agencies to actually tell them and force them in terms of what training they do or don't provide.  There is nothing in the contract?

MS. GIRARDI:  I haven't looked at all of the terms and conditions of the contract, to be honest.  I have to go back.

MR. TUNLEY:  Fair enough.  Mr. Selznick is going to contradict me if I am wrong.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  You can be sure of that.  But there isn't -- you don't insist that they follow your training exactly.  You recognize, as the witness K.B. testified, that they have some discretion to --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I mean, as I explained before, when a sales agency attends our office, we meet with them.  We go through the sales training manual.  That is the premise of the -- that's where all of the training starts.

There are presentations that go along with that on market product, as well, and then we talk about compliance processes and we talk about the OEA training.

So that material, we go through that material with the agent.  On initial rollout of an agency, the compliance staff will complete the OEA training and the certification, and we train the recruiter at the office to implement the OEA training for new sales agents that come in after that date, and they report the test results back to our office and we manage those.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  We don't have every test result for every agent --

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- who gave evidence.

MS. GIRARDI:  I realize that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the material, still at tab 2A, your training material that you say was developed in 2007, just at page 7 there is reference to this compliance notice, and:
"You and your manager need to review the complaints, sign the notice and return it to head office within two weeks."


Do you see that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And we have heard from at least one agent that that didn't happen, that they weren't even aware of the complaints until this proceeding was commenced in June 2010.

MS. GIRARDI:  You are referring to G.W.?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  All right.

MR. TUNLEY:  And some of the other agents didn't think it had happened with every one of the complaints before the Board.  They recalled a couple of occasions.  You heard that evidence?

MS. GIRARDI:  I did.  I also heard the evidence that the agents did testify, A.T. and M.G, and A.B. in particular, that they had meetings with their sales managers to review complaints in their offices.

MR. TUNLEY:  None of them testified about seeing or signing a compliance notice, and I am not aware of any copy of a compliance notice being produced.

Are you aware of any?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  We filed the sample compliance notice, but I believe M.G. testified that he did sign -- he remembers attending a meeting at our office and signing the compliance notice.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  But you don't have it today?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't.  I am testifying to it today.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand.  And in terms of the field training, we have heard from the agents about the field training.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But there is nothing in your material to suggest Summitt requires any particular kind or nature or length of field training from its agencies?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you kind of leave that to the agencies, it is fair to say?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  They're expert.  They retain the agents, and they have a fair amount of discretion with respect to training?

MS. GIRARDI:  Within Summitt's guidelines, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

The agents we heard from have given evidence about different times in class.  It seems it is not standard.

Their evidence is -- well, G.S. and A.B., I think I am right, say two to three hours in class.  G.W., K.B. and A.T. said three to four hours, and M.G. -- only M.G. said that he was trained for three-and-a-half hours for two days.  He was the only one who said he was trained --

MS. GIRARDI:  M.G.?

MR. TUNLEY:  M.G.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  As I understood his evidence, he was indicating he took a little longer because of language difficulties.  Did you hear his evidence and is that your understanding, as well?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's not my understanding, sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, we all have his evidence.  We can review it.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  But in any event, the time spent is different from agent to agent.  You will agree?

MS. GIRARDI:  It depends on the size of the class.  That would be a factor in determining the length.  The questions that are asked during the training is a factor in how long the session is completed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  If I just ask you to turn back to the retail compliance plan at page 13, you will see in that first paragraph at the top a reference to length and time of training being delivered varying from two hours up to three days.  That was the findings of the comparative --

MS. GIRARDI:  I see that.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I suggest the practices of most of the agencies that you are dealing with, based on the evidence we heard, is at the low end of that range, certainly.  You would agree?

MS. GIRARDI:  I just want to put that into context in terms of what training they're referring to, because there are different components of training.  So I just want to take a moment just to read that.

MR. TUNLEY:  This is the model, as I understand it, that you use where training is conducted by the sales contractor, but using materials that you provide.  That's why I have put it to you.

MS. GIRARDI:  The in-house training could take between -- as the agents have testified, between two to four hours.  It doesn't mean that the training is completed.  There is in-field training that also occurs.  Shadowing, as G.W. mentioned, that happens, as well.

I think this section specifically refers to the OEA training and the test that is taken.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is included, certainly.  We can agree on that.

All right.  And just dealing with the certification test, you will agree, in terms of the evidence we have heard, one of the agencies was doing it every year for the agents in that agency, but that wasn't standard.  We didn't hear that from all of the witnesses who testified?

MS. GIRARDI:  Summitt rolls the testing out every year.  It may not be on the anniversary date, but we do roll it out yearly.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you have acknowledged that Summitt hasn't produced copies of the tests for all agents for every year?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And in some cases, what you have produced to us are the second or subsequent attempt at the test, not the original one that would have been taken when the agent first came on-board?

MS. GIRARDI:  There wasn't a test when the agent first came on board.

The test process certification started when the OEA training was implemented.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Again, there is nothing in the agency contracts, as I read them -- and Mr. Selznick will correct me if I am wrong -- that requires the agencies to follow the OEA certification process?

MS. GIRARDI:  There is in appendix A that talks about OEA training.  So --

MR. TUNLEY:  Let's turn that up, if you think that is there.  Tab -- I think it is tab 1.

MS. GIRARDI:  Binder 2.

MR. TUNLEY:  Binder 2.

MS. GIRARDI:  Tab 4, if we look at C.  I thought it was in here.

Oh, okay.  Oh, okay.  So the first part talks -- it is all registration, personal information of the agent.

Non-competition confidentiality on page 2.

Page 3 talks about the OEA training, and right above that is highlights of Summitt's own Code of Conduct regarding proper signing authority, and not soliciting in gated communities, branded clothing and badge.

So right after that it follows the OEA training.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry, you are looking at tab 4?

MS. GIRARDI:  4C.

MR. TUNLEY:  4C, but these are the individual agents.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Oh –-

MR. TUNLEY:  I am talking about the agencies.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  If you look with me at tab 5 and the contracts that you have, they don't require the agencies to follow the OEA certification and training process?

MS. GIRARDI:  The independent contractor does not mention OEA, but there's the --

MR. TUNLEY:  Does not?

MS. GIRARDI:  -- indemnity that was signed after that, with the registry, that when we rolled out the OEA training, we asked the agencies to sign that indemnity form.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  And if you look at that --

MR. TUNLEY:  Where do you believe that is?

MS. GIRARDI:  That is at....

MR. SELZNICK:  Six.

MR. TUNLEY:  Tab 6?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, tab 6.  So this was -- I believe there is a date you would see -- yes, March.  So it corresponds to the date --

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  -- at the training.  So at the same time that compliance staff would be at the offices to do the OEA training with the sales agents, the sales manager would be there, and this form would be signed at the same time.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Thank you.  That helps.

I want to deal, then, with the issue of quality monitoring and quality assurance.

I understand Summitt's approach is to conduct quality assurance through the reaffirmation call process.  In 2008-2009, you were calling back approximately 10 percent of the reaffirmation calls?

MS. GIRARDI:  It was actually 20, as prescribed by the voluntary assurance order.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  That would be after 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  After the voluntary -- it was 10 percent prior to that time?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  It seems that we don't have any of the complaints that are before the Board today; missed that process.

There aren't any quality assurance call documents or tapes that are produced for any of the 19 complaints, or are there?

MS. GIRARDI:  The reaffirmation calls would have been filed for each of the complainants.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But I am saying in none of those 19 cases was there a follow-up quality assurance call on the reaffirmation call, at least not in the ones that I have seen.

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  Once the reaffirmation call is completed, there is no further follow-up call done with a customer.

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm sorry.  So how is the quality assurance applied, then, to the 10 percent of cases?

MS. GIRARDI:  The quality assurance is on the 10 percent of audited -- of the reaffirmation calls completed.  So we would audit the reaffirmation calls to ensure that they comply with the OEB reaffirmation requirements.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you only look at 10 percent of the --

MS. GIRARDI:  Before the voluntary order, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And now you look at 20 percent?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Why wouldn't you look at 100 percent, to make sure that they comply before you issue a contract and flow gas?

MS. GIRARDI:  We feel that 20 percent during the voluntary process was sufficient to gauge the quality of the calls and feedback on agent conduct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  It was a good sample.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is your evidence, I understand.

You don't –- you did not, in 2008/2009, conduct any quality assurance on an agent-by-agent basis, I take it?

MS. GIRARDI:  Outside of the reaffirmation call, no.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  If I look at the retail compliance plan, at page 16, it seems that in 2008-2009, at least two of your competitors did have an in-field agent quality assurance process.

I will give you that reference.  It is under the heading:  "Quality monitoring and quality assurance in the field."

MS. GIRARDI:  Mm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  It begins:

"There are only two examples of in-field quality assessments being conducted."

And then the examples are set out.

MS. GIRARDI:  So "Quality monitoring and quality assurance," paragraph 1 or 2?  Sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is two headings, the second one is:

"In the field."

And according to the study, there were only two examples found among the energy retailers --

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- of quality assessments being conducted on –-

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I see it.  Sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- agents in the field.

MS. GIRARDI:  Got it, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And Summitt was not one of those?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  We do do that now.  I think that's what they're referring -- there are two examples of in-field quality assess being done.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you do it, Ms. Girardi?  Or do you require your contractors to do it?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  We do it.  It is in-house.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  So as of June 30th we advised the Board that we do a quality assurance call, yes, at the time of the sale.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry, you are talking about the quality assurance call at the time the contract is being signed?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Someone being on the telephone with the agent in the field?

MS. GIRARDI:  With the customer.

MR. TUNLEY:  With the customer.  And the agent, as I understand the script?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And how many -- what percentage of cases is that done in?

MS. GIRARDI:  All our contracts.

MR. TUNLEY:  All your contracts?

MS. GIRARDI:  Currently.  I think that is what they're referring to, is the quality call at the door, when they say "in-field quality assessment being conducted."

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Anyway, that is your understanding?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And we can read what is here.  You will agree with me that none of the agents --

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, okay.  I'm sorry, I haven't read this.  I am just reading it as we are going along here.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am not going to hold it against you.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Because I think the Board knows that you haven't read it recently.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I think they know that your counsel objected to it going in.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  So don't --

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.  But just to clarify this point here so we are not talking about two different things --

MR. TUNLEY:  Please do clarify your response.

MS. GIRARDI:  Thank you.  So:

"There are only two examples of in-field quality assessments being conducted.  In one example, there is a field agent quality assessment process, which is two-fold. In-field assessments where a sales quality specialist shadows..."

Okay.
"...agents in the field, and subsequent next-day assessment..."

Okay.  So there is a shadowing process.  Compliance staff does not do the shadowing process.  Our sales agents would do that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Then the other example is similarly described.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  But you don't do either of those two things, and you don't require your agencies to do either of those two things, as I understand it?

MS. GIRARDI:  The shadowing is part of the training process.  I think that --

MR. TUNLEY:  Initially?

MS. GIRARDI:  Initially.  And as --

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  That has been described, but not as a quality assurance, an ongoing quality assurance quality management process.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is not done by any of the agencies, as far as we have heard the evidence.

MS. GIRARDI:  That is not my understanding, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  We haven't heard any evidence that it is.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  I agree, Mr. Tunley.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we are clear, that answer is that it is your understanding that that is -- that is the case, that they do not do that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.

And we are clear none of the agents who testified had ever participated or been aware of participating in any of these processes, whether they're on the phone or in the field?

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, two of them testified that they had -- that there was shadowing and in-field assessment, after we reviewed complaints.

MR. TUNLEY:  After you reviewed the complaints?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That is fair.  I'm sorry.  I take a quality assurance process to be an ongoing process that happens periodically, regardless of whether there are complaints or not?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's where I draw a distinction.  I am going to come back to complaint response and management, okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  Fine.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just want to deal with one small point about your internal code of conduct.

I was going to suggest to you you didn't have one, and then you were looking at binder number 2, tab 1C, if you could just turn that up, briefly?

I think you referred us to page 14, and you said, This is our internal code of conduct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Am I understanding what you were telling us?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just turn the page to page 15.

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is actually a heading "Summitt Energy Code of Conduct"; do you see that --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- on the next page?  All it says is:
"All Summitt Energy independent sales agents must adhere to the OEB Code of Conduct."

MS. GIRARDI:  I think it is the way it is structured.  I wouldn't -- I wouldn't put too much on the fact that it is not -- that that heading doesn't appear on page 14.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I think I understand.

Let's move to complaint management.  And we know that at least prior to June 18th of this year, only one of the agents who testified had been fired as a result of a complaint.  You are aware of that?  And, in fact, I think even he testified that he quit as a result of a dispute over a fine imposed rather than being fired; is that right?

MS. GIRARDI:  We're referring to A.T.?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  And Summitt Energy ended its relationship with the agent after the fine was imposed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me just be clear on that.

Did Summitt Energy initiate that, or did he quit because he didn't accept the justice, if you will, of the fine that was imposed?  Do you have a letter terminating him?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  No.

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  But there were the other two agents that were terminated on June 18th, as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

G.W. was never even made aware of any complaints against himself.  You are aware of his evidence?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Three witnesses were called, complaints about him which he never knew about; correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And there is a fourth in the notice of intention; correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Are you aware there is a total of 11 complaints against him received by the Board over the period, none of which were brought to his attention, apparently?

MS. GIRARDI:  I have testified that we brought the matter to his sales agents, and we reviewed the issues with the sales agency.  He testified that his manager reviewed his sales presentation with him, and there was an in-field coaching, shadowing session that took place as a result.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, the evidence is what it is.

You are describing an incident that occurred after June of 2010?

MS. GIRARDI:  No, that was before.  If we go through the chart, that happened before June.  So in binder 3 --

MR. TUNLEY:  I was going to come here, but let's do it now.

You brought our attention to these charts at the end of tab 1A, I believe?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so, I'm sorry, your point about G.W. was --

MS. GIRARDI:  Just highlighting the sequence of events in regards to these complaints in this proceeding.

So the complaint came in in March.  The issues in that complaint were addressed at the OEA certification and training.  On June 18th, there was a meeting with his sales manager where we discussed the complaints received on G.W.  There was a thorough discussion on his complaints.

MR. TUNLEY:  When you say that, do you remember a discussion with him?

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, yes.  Vividly, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You were present?

MS. GIRARDI:  I was present.  I am present at all of the compliance meetings.

MR. TUNLEY:  He can't remember it, but you can?

MS. GIRARDI:  I think K.B. testified that there were meetings scheduled and there were conference calls scheduled with them.  A meeting notice would be sent out.  Attachments to the meeting notices regarding complaints generated from our system were sent to them, supporting documents regarding reaffirmation calls, inbound calls.  All of that information is sent to the agency, and the meeting takes well -- within an hour, and we go through each complaint.  And --

MR. TUNLEY:  I agree he gave that evidence generically, but he couldn't remember the meeting with G.W., specifically.

MS. GIRARDI:  It wasn't -- during that -- during the June 18th meeting, during the October 20 -- and 29th meeting -- sorry, October 23rd meeting, both of these meetings the same process was followed, and there would have been discussions of G.W.'s complaints.

MR. TUNLEY:  But it is not a one on one with him.  You're describing --

MS. GIRARDI:  With G.W., no, exactly.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you indicate on this chronology for G.W. that on April 16, 2010 a complaint notice was issued.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  We don't have a copy of that document.

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And I understand he is still working for the agency, but not in the field.  That's his status?

MS. GIRARDI:  He is not selling energy products.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just the compliance notices that are referred to on all of these chronologies aren't in the productions anywhere.  I haven't just missed them?  There is a reference in the next one, A.T. --

MS. GIRARDI:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- to a compliance notice --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- in the third entry.  Again, we don't have that document?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  I am testifying that it was signed and I have a copy of it, and there was a meeting that took place on April 14th.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you remember that one, too?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.  I remember the one of M.G., as well.

MR. TUNLEY:  Again, that was a generic meeting, not with him specifically one on one?

MS. GIRARDI:  That was with him specifically.

MR. TUNLEY:  That one was with him specifically one on one?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is it fair to suggest to you that that would be later in 2009 in connection with the fine that was ultimately imposed?

MS. GIRARDI:  The fine was imposed in -- oh, the fine was imposed -- the $500 fine was imposed on August -- in August.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  So it was before the fine.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Looking at the chronology for G.S., there is no follow-up at all after the last complaint?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.  Well, I have left it at that.  I haven't provided further follow-up.

MR. TUNLEY:  The testimony of the agents generally is that they're aware of their reaffirmation ratio.  That is a number that is given to them, but not their complaints.

There isn't a complaints ratio, from their testimony?

MS. GIRARDI:  They did not testify to that; that's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you agree with the evidence of K.B. that the level of complaints and cancellations is a good indicator of whether the agent is doing his or her job properly?

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Do you agree with K.B. in the evidence that he gave that the level of complaints and cancellations is a good indicator of whether an agent is doing their job properly?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, it is one measure.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you would agree it would also be a good indicator of whether the agencies are doing their job properly?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is one indicator.

MR. TUNLEY:  And --

MS. GIRARDI:  Both -- cancellations is a separate indicator.  We take that into account.  Obviously, if there is a high cancellation rate, we look at the reasons why.  It may not always be associated to agent complaints.  It could be associated to market trends or no authorization, and so forth.

But cancellations is a broad category, reasons, and then there are agent complaints that are received

MR. TUNLEY:  I agree with you that the rate of cancellations that are not related to the agent conduct or that occur in the ordinary course after the conduct is over, that would be of no relevance to the agent.  Is that what you are saying?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't understand the question, sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think you are trying to qualify my question to you --

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- by saying that cancellations could be for reasons unrelated to the agent, and it is not fair to consider the rate of cancellations or the level of cancellations other than for the agent's own contracts.  I accept that.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  But do you agree, otherwise, that the level of cancellations for that agent's contracts, particularly where the cancellations are occurring before the contract goes full --

MS. GIRARDI:  I understand the question, okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- they would be relevant?

MS. GIRARDI:  They're not always associated to agent conduct.  Customer has 10 days to reconsider the offer.

And within those 10 days, they can exercise their rights, either on the reaffirmation call or before.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  That would be their reaffirmation ratio, the number of signed contracts that they have that don't reaffirm?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, or reaffirm, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.  I moved on to --

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Level of complaints and cancellations, was K.B.'s evidence.  He would look at those as well?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  I do recall him testifying to that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So you agree those would be a good indicator of agent conduct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Both for the agent and for the agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And would you apply that to Summitt itself, as well?  It would be a good indicator of how well you are doing your job?

MS. GIRARDI:  Those are factors we consider in evaluating the success of contracts and customer satisfaction.  They're not the only indicators.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  In your evidence, I think you do say you complete -- you keep records of complaint ratios and you provide them to contractors, to the agencies?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  We haven't seen an example of that, have we?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is no example?

The correspondence, I don't see it referring to those things, exchanging -- being exchanged in relation, at least, to the complaints that are before the Board today.

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I didn't see a document standard as to what a satisfactory or unsatisfactory complaint ratio would look like, what is the number.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  We haven't produced that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Historically, you did have a policy.  If I could ask you to turn to binder 2, tab 1, if I look at either tab A or B at page 14, do you see there is a process set out where the first OEB complaint results in a warning letter?  Do you see that, the process, subparagraph 2, sub 1?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then the next OEB complaint results in an action letter, which will outline a fine amount up to $500?  Do you see that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then the third complaint results in a possible termination or suspension letter, including a fine?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So there was a kind of one, two, three-step –- strikes, and you are perhaps out approach early on?

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you recall that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Then for some reason in tab C, the revised version in May of 2009, you stopped applying that process.  It is no longer -- it's no longer here.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  We changed the process, or description of the process.

MR. TUNLEY:  I mean, it is fair to say you weren't enforcing the one, two, three strikes, you're out, approach even in -- even before 2009?  Is that fair?

We have seen lots of complaints -- sorry, lots of agents with more than three complaints.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  The agencies would have, and in certain cases the sales agents, would have been advised of all OEB complaints at the time that they came in.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  We would have discussed the complaints with them, and had an understanding of the impetus of the complaints, and we would have conducted retraining.

And depending on the level, as you saw in A.T., if these matters escalated, there would have been a fine that was issued.

MR. TUNLEY:  But it is not a simple matter of one, two, three strikes, you're out?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was not enforced, I take it, at any time?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And after May of 2009, there is no reference to a fine or a termination being imposed as a matter of course based on complaint volume.  It is all discretionary; there may be a fine, you could be terminated?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  You talked about a customer and complaint database having been started at some point?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Am I right that that was initiated after the Notice of Hearing?  That is one of the initiatives you took?

MS. GIRARDI:  No, no.

MR. TUNLEY:  When was that first implemented?

MS. GIRARDI:  The database, it went through different stages.  When Summitt was first marketing for the first six months, it was a form of an Excel spreadsheet.

Then it evolved, within a year, to a system within its customer service database.

And then in 2009, enhancements on the program were made to accommodate this point system methodology.

MR. TUNLEY:  And so --

MS. GIRARDI:  We have always --

MR. TUNLEY:  -- what is the enhancement that has been applied in June of 2010?  That is referred to in --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  It is the point system, and a schedule for remedial action associated to the points.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And that is kind of coming back to one, two, three strikes, you're out?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You mentioned as well -- and I think it was with reference to tab B3 -- sorry, binder 3, tab 15 -- this is the compliance notice form that you say is used?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  At tab 15?

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  In that reference, dealing with the OEA training and your use of the compliance notice, I think you indicated that there was a verification call process that was recommended to the -- by the OEA in June of 2009.  Do you remember that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I think it is tab 3B.  There is a discussion paper with your -- the OEA's recommendation to this Board, with respect to a verification call; am I right?

MS. GIRARDI:  You are talking about the OEA discussion paper?

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it is --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Tab 3B, is it?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.  I'm there.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think you said you and Summitt Energy were heavily involved in making this recommendation to the Board?

MS. GIRARDI:  That was -- it wasn't -- there were four main retailers who were involved in the discussion paper:  Just Energy, Direct, Superior and Summitt.  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And as of June 2009, this is what you were recommending?

MS. GIRARDI:  The committee itself was recommending that.  It wasn't Summitt Energy on its own, but we were supportive of the initiatives.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You didn't implement such an initiative --

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- in terms of a verification call until June 2010?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you recognized the need for it, the sense of doing it, but you didn't implement it until a year later?

MS. GIRARDI:  There wasn't -- we didn't feel there was a need to implement that.  We felt that our verification -- our verification call or reaffirmation call that happened 10 days -- was sufficient.

At the same time, we acknowledged that we weren't against that practice, and we supported it.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You recommended it, you supported it, but you didn't implement it?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  Not at the time.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just to pick up on one other detail...

MS. GIRARDI:  We didn't feel there was a need at that time to implement the door-to-door sales activity call.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  And I think you've testified to that.

In several of the complaint witness proceedings that we had last week, there were notes of anomalies in the audio files.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Some appeared to be misdated or out of order, others appeared to be missing.

I take it there are those anomalies?  The files are not complete in every case?

MS. GIRARDI:  I can testify that the -- all of the calls, the inbound calls, the reaffirmation calls, and even calls made out have all been provided to the Board.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  The discrepancies in the transcript are -- are a result of administrative possible error, but not to the point that it is an incomplete record.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am not suggesting you are holding anything back.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am just saying the records you have, there are some anomalies within them, and you don't have an explanation for us about why?

MS. GIRARDI:  Regarding the transcript dates and times?

MR. TUNLEY:  Transcript dates and transcriptions.

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  I don't know why that happened.

MR. TUNLEY:  And generally am I right, listening to and reading the reaffirmation call transcripts themselves, there has obviously been a discussion before the actual tape recorder is turned on?

MS. GIRARDI:  No, that is not the case.

MR. TUNLEY:  We have heard evidence that there were discussions that occurred before the tape was turned on.

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't believe that is correct.  If I understand your question, are you saying there was a discussion during the reaffirmation call process before the reaffirmation call recording kicked in?

MR. TUNLEY:  Before the recording kicked in.

MS. GIRARDI:  No, that's not correct.  All our reaffirmation calls are recorded from start to finish.

MR. TUNLEY:  From pick-up --

MS. GIRARDI:  Exactly.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- to hang-up?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I just want to deal with a small item with respect to the sales scripts and marketing and presentation materials that are in the evidence before us.

You agree that it is important for your agents to be clear when they're discussing price of gas and electricity?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And clear about the prices being offered, clear in describing current utility prices?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And any comparisons they make?  They --

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And they have to be clear about the price implications of switching to a Summitt plan?

MS. GIRARDI:  That they may or may not save money on the plan?

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And other implications.

MS. GIRARDI:  The provincial benefit, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  One of the agents has given us evidence about testifying that the gas price had gone up over ten years to 42 cents.  Do you remember that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was M.G.

MS. GIRARDI:  M.G.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was part of his pitch to the customers; do you remember that?

MS. GIRARDI:  I remember the discussion that happened and his reference to the chart and the trending, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And will you agree with me that 42 cents is the commodity price, plus delivery and other charges?  It is not the commodity price alone?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't believe that is what the agent was referring to.

I don't...  I don't believe that the agents ever sold our product as an all-inclusive product.

MR. TUNLEY:  I wasn't suggesting they did.  But the price that he referred to in his presentation to the customer was 42 cents?

MS. GIRARDI:  In reference to the chart, which is in reference to the AECO pricing.  Do we know which chart he was referring to?

MR. TUNLEY:  I don't think he was referring to a chart.  It was just what he said to the customer was the current price of gas.

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't believe he said the current utility price.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  He may have said that the market price was approaching 40 cents, 41 cents.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it was 42.  He said the current price is 42 cents.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay, 41.8 or 41...  Do you have the transcript?

MR. TUNLEY:  I have page 124, M.G. giving evidence that:
"No, that was utility price.  Hold on a sec.  I am just trying to remember my house bill in 2007, and I am pretty sure it was around 40 cents..."


So he was saying it was the utility price.

MS. GIRARDI:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, I raise it because you are aware utility prices of utilities for gas are published by the Board.  They're available on the website, both historically and currently?

MS. GIRARDI:  I am aware of that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you can get it in two forms.  You can get the historical rates off the Internet, and you can also get -- by area, operations area, you can get a breakdown of the commodity price, the gas price adjustment, the transportation to Union Gas, storage, everything that --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I am aware of those charts.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- build up the customer's bill; right?

I would like to mark those two forms as the next exhibit, because we have had -- maybe I will just ask my colleagues to hand everybody a sample of each page.

MS. GIRARDI:  I think I would like to point --

MR. SELZNICK:  Just a point of order.  I have a concern about this exhibit.  Is the witness being asked to identify this, or is there a witness who is testifying to these exhibits?

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, I think the witness has identified that this is information available off the Board's website.  These are the regulated prices of gas to consumers in Ontario set by this Board, and I think this Board can take notice that these are the rates in any given area.

So I think it is as simple as that.  I don't think there is any mystery.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick.

MR. SELZNICK:  It is not the question of its being on the website.  I don't know what this form actually says.  Is this a printout from the website, or is this an analysis from the website?

MR. TUNLEY:  It is a printout.  Two printouts, actually.

MR. SELZNICK:  So I am not sure the witness is in a position to say these were printed out from the website.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is right.  I don't see Mr. Tunley actually asking the witness to do that, other than to say that this is information that the witness is familiar with and that it is accessible in the way that it has been suggested.

I think these are actually numbers that the Board could take judicial notice of.

MR. SELZNICK:  My only concern is how they're being entered into evidence.  My view is the witness can't identify these pieces of paper.  She didn't produce them from the website.  And, you know, they can be put to her as numbers, but there is no real witness to identify that they were taken in a certain period of time.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fair enough.

I guess, Mr. Tunley -- would you object, then, Mr. Selznick, in the course of argument if Mr. Tunley referred to those numbers in the course of his argument to draw a distinction between a price that may or may not have been quoted to the customer and the actual price that was prevailing in the market, which I think is the purpose of the introduction of the document?

MR. SELZNICK:  Well, I guess Mr. Tunley is asking the Board to take judicial notice of those prices, and I am in your hands as to whether you will or not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  And I am indicating I think we can.  I think the documents are probably not proper exhibits in that sense, but I wouldn't be surprised if we see those numbers in the course of argument.  You can --

MR. SELZNICK:  So I think my objection stands on the basis I am not sure how they're going to go in as evidence, because the witness can't identify the pages, and there is no one else to do that.  Sort of compliance staff's case is closed on their evidentiary side.

So if he is going to draw those analogies and ask you to take judicial notice, I will have to ask you whether you will.  I am in your hands as to whether you will or not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the Board would take judicial notice of those numbers.

MR. SELZNICK:  All right.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think this has been run for the purpose of the M.G. case, which is before the Board, and I think it is -- the Union Gas southern operations area is one of the -- one of the -- is the area where gas was being provided to this customer.

I am going to just point out to you, Ms. Girardi, you know that your agents have access to this information and get it from the Internet regularly?  They have told us they know what the utility prices are.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  It is also in our training manual, as well.  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  There is no mystery here, as I understand it.

But my point is that the commodity charge in this time frame was between 31 in January and 20, 21 cents, not 42 cents, and that is including the adjustment -- gas price adjustment in the second line.  Do you see that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  So when M.G. is referring us to a utility price at 42, in fairness, he is not doing an apples-to-apples comparison, at least on the information that this Board can take judicial notice of.

Is that -- does that concern you, Ms. Girardi?

MS. GIRARDI:  It does concern me if agents aren't communicating the correct utility price.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  I...

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me take it a step further, because I think that is a fair answer, but I want to go, then, to your sales kit binder, tab 2C, which is one of these brochures that your agents hand out, and get you to look on the back --

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, sorry.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- on the back of the brochure, because we see the same net information of gas prices up to 40 cents in 2008.  Do you see that?

MS. GIRARDI:  So tab 2C?

MR. TUNLEY:  Tab 2C.

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  They all have a similar chart on the back, but this is the diagram with the arrows, rising gas prices?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  So you would agree with me that the comparison that's -- if a customer actually looks at this form, the comparison is to a current gas price in 2008, 2009, of in the range of 40 cents?

MS. GIRARDI:  There is no 2009 on this graph.  It is just 2008.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, there is -- you are right.  There is 2008 at 40, and arrows trending up.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MS. GIRARDI:  As I stated earlier this morning, the -- I have identified what the numbers are, the gas prices.  They're AECO spot prices, the average for the year, which is an indication of where natural gas prices are at in the market.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  And you could make a reasonable inference that AECO prices parallel possibly with utility prices, since the way utilities set their prices are on a one-year --

MR. TUNLEY:  Isn't the problem really, though, that most of the consumers we have heard from aren't going to know what the AECO index is?  They're going to know what 40 cents is, and that is roughly their all-inclusive gas utility bill in or about September?

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, what this graph shows is historical natural gas prices and the trends of it.

MR. TUNLEY:  I appreciate that.  It is a question of what the customer is going to take from this, is what I am asking you about.

Will you agree with me it is suggesting gas prices in the 40-cent range, which a customer in 2008-2009 might well recognize as something very close to their current gas utility bill?

MR. SELZNICK:  With respect, I really don't want to interrupt my friend's cross-examination extensively.  This witness can't testify on what is the minds of consumers.  That is something they could have attested to when they were on the stand.

MR. TUNLEY:  Nor could the last witness, but we heard from him.  But anyway --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is a fair objection.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is a fair objection, all right.

You will agree with me, looking at the same chart, that the green arrow is an indication of potential savings?  That is what is being communicated to the customer?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  But you will agree with me that the arrow starts at 2004, and what we're looking at is really what a customer who signed up in 2004 might have earned as potential savings, had they locked in at that point?  That is what is really being shown here?

MS. GIRARDI:  I would testify that the graph shows changes in utility –- sorry, changes in gas prices, spot prices, and that since 1998 there has been an increase in prices, and that Summitt's price is a fixed five-year contract, which isn't dependent on the AECO price.  It is a forward price, and what you are locking into is stability, peace of mind, and that there may or may not be a potential for savings.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But all I am saying is that someone who locks in in 2008 or 2009 isn't actually going to realize the savings that are illustrated here.

MS. GIRARDI:  We don't know that.  The contract term hasn't ended.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, we do know that, because this is showing what a customer would have received had they locked in in 2004.  Do you see what I am saying?  You don't agree with it, but you see what I am saying?

MS. GIRARDI:  You're saying, sorry, if a customer locked in in 2004 at 25 cents?

MR. TUNLEY:  The green is what they would have saved.

MS. GIRARDI:  But they wouldn't have locked in at 25 cents.  They would have locked in at Summitt's contract price.  So there is no indication here of what Summitt's contract price would have been.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, fair.  But that is my third point, is that, in fact, a person locking in will usually pay more in terms of a Summitt contract price in the first year than the current prevailing utility price for the commodity?

MS. GIRARDI:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Typically.

MS. GIRARDI:  Typically, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will agree with me that this chart doesn't show the savings -- it shows the savings starting right away in 2004.  It doesn't show that, in fact, in order to achieve that level of savings you would have to lock in in 2002 or 2000, and be above the market price in the first one, two, perhaps even three years of the contract.  That is not represented here in any way, is it?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  I think the potential for savings, when I see the green part, is that it is a future potential for savings.

I don't see the reference into -- I mean, I know the green arrows, the bar starts in 2004, but I think the concept of the green into the future is what -- is what -- is what is trying to be communicated.

So the -- it is a future contract.  It is for five years.  It is a long-term contract.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You will -- have, I think, agreed that the articles which are referred to in your sales binder, which you provide to the agencies, are all about rising energy prices, one way or another?  Binder 1, tab 7.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, I have seen those.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And Summitt approves the use of this kind of material by the agents?

MS. GIRARDI:  These are samples, so they don't include all of them.

MR. TUNLEY:  No, no, no, I understand.

MS. GIRARDI:  There are other articles which deal on industry changes and so forth, but --

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  -- these ones here?  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  Summitt approves of the use by agents in the field of this kind of journalism about rising energy prices?

MS. GIRARDI:  Summitt provides this information to the sales agents, to be educated on current events regarding energy prices.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And encourages the agents to use it?

MS. GIRARDI:  I wouldn't say we encourage it.  I think it is provided for information purposes.  It is current information that is published.  It is not outdated information.  It is publicly available.  It is an educational tool.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Are you concerned about agents saying to customers that energy prices are sure to rise?  Look at all this news reporting, all these articles?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't think you can say an absolute.  I think there is always -- the market is volatile.  It is uncertain.  You are entering into a peace-of-mind contract, like you would for a mortgage.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  So no one knows what is going to happen.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will agree with me nobody sells mortgages door-to-door?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And do you also encourage or facilitate the supply of MLS material?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  So that is something the agencies are doing on their own?  It is not something you would encourage?

MS. GIRARDI:  I think you are referring to the list that the agents have testified?  Yes, that is something the agencies use.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Just quickly to review with you the steps that you have taken after the notice of intention in June.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Summitt fired two of the five agents, I believe?

MS. GIRARDI:  Three.

MR. TUNLEY:  Three?  And why did do you that in June?

MS. GIRARDI:  It was a response to the Notice.

MR. TUNLEY:  You didn't fire them in May?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  That's right.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  You didn't fire G.W.?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  We -- he is not selling energy contracts.  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You are aware of the testimony of K.B., who told this Board that in terms of the things that are set out in your correspondence of June 30, tab 3, he wished you had done those things 10 years ago, I think was his evidence.  Did you hear him saying that?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  He is relying on his experience in the Alberta market, where it's --

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And why didn't you do those things 10 years ago?

MS. GIRARDI:  You are referring specifically to the quality assurance call?  I think that is what K.B. was referring to?

MR. TUNLEY:  I think there is several things that have been implemented; quality assurance call is one.

MS. GIRARDI:  I think K.B. was referring specifically to the quality assurance call, and -- because it was a practice in Alberta.

It wasn't a requirement, a regulatory requirement, and -- at the time.  And we didn't implement that practice, that's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Isn't the problem that he didn't implement it either -- even though he knew it was a good idea from his experience in Alberta -- because it wasn't a requirement, because it would be expensive to do so, and unless it is a requirement, it is not going to happen?

MS. GIRARDI:  What I am testifying today is that it is not a requirement today and we are taking the initiative to do that, and I would suggest to you that it is not common practice among the industry to do a quality call at the door, amongst other retailers.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, just looking at tab 3, if you could turn up Exhibit K6.4, just -- I think it is just a typographical point, but in --

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry?

MR. TUNLEY:   -- tab 3.  Do you have that?  It is the cerlox bound --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Tab 3.  This is Mr. Selznick's letter of June 30th.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think it is a typographical error in the second last paragraph, that it was effective June 18, 2010 not --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, that's right.  We did correct that later in his letter of July 7th.

MR. TUNLEY:  I thought so, and I just wanted to be clear.

The point system that you have described for the severity and significance of complaints, that was implemented by you in 2010?

MS. GIRARDI:  The development phase of that program started in 2009 and it's been finalized recently.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  I am going to suggest to you that your competitors, except for Superior, all had that kind of system in 2008.

MS. GIRARDI:  I wouldn't agree with you.

MR. TUNLEY:  You wouldn't?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Who else didn't?

MS. GIRARDI:  I don't know what our competitors are doing.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

MS. GIRARDI:  But I don't understand where your comment is coming from.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, my comment is coming from -- my suggestion to you is that it takes a notice of intention from this Board for Summitt to act on some of these items.  That is my suggestion to you.

MS. GIRARDI:  I would disagree, in that the evidence provided in those tables indicates that Summitt did take action when complaints came in with its sales agents, in following its processes, in terms of its reviews with the sales agencies, fines and claw-backs.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But as I understand it, your evidence is that you felt these were measures that were appropriate so that you would ensure compliance with the Board's interim compliance order as of June 2010; right?  That's what you told Mr. Selznick.

MS. GIRARDI:  I think these measures are where the industry is going and which is evidenced in the OEB's proceedings on the implementation of a new energy act.  So...  That's it.

MR. TUNLEY:  And your evidence today is they're appropriate steps that you took in June 2010 to ensure compliance with this Board's interim order, and you read it to us; right?

MS. GIRARDI:  I think our initiatives -- I think Summitt Energy was proactive in responding to the interim order and in taking those initiatives.

MR. TUNLEY:  To ensure compliance as of June 2010?

MS. GIRARDI:  I think -- I think our processes before the order were compliant in ensuring that complaints were addressed and monitored.  I think these were additional initiatives taken.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Well, you certainly had the obligation to ensure compliance under the codes of conduct issued by this Board throughout the period that we are dealing with?

MS. GIRARDI:  I would agree with you, and I would submit that we did that.

MR. TUNLEY:  So you are saying really they --

MS. GIRARDI:  Through our training process, through our certification process, with our constant communications with the sales agencies, with personal meetings with the sales agents at head office, I think we addressed the issues that were brought forth.

MR. TUNLEY:  But you didn't do any of the things set out in your June 30th letter until there was an interim order from compliance issued by this Board?

MS. GIRARDI:  Most of the initiatives were new initiatives.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MS. GIRARDI:  I would submit that the reporting and tracking systems were an ongoing process of Summitt Energy's practice.

MR. TUNLEY:  And, in any event, when Mr. Selznick asked you - and he did several times - in the present tense, What is your process for this, that and the other thing, you are answering as of today, including these changes today?

MS. GIRARDI:  Correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Board Staff.  I beg your pardon.  Mr. Selznick, re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Selznick:

MR. SELZNICK:  I don't believe...

Sorry, I won't belabour it with many questions, but just to clarify a few points, Mr. Tunley asked you about this compliance report.  And, just for the record, were you ever asked to comment on it by the OEB?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  On the report?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you provide a report or a response to it?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Did you get any feedback from the Board on it?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.

MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.

In response to Mr. Tunley's -- sorry, the next question is:   Your advice is, based upon those time lines of dealing with the various agents and the complaints in question, the notice of intention, that you did meet -- you did have the conversations that are noted there.

Why is that so present in your mind?  How come you can recall this and perhaps the agents don't?

MS. GIRARDI:  Recalling the specific meetings?

MR. SELZNICK:  Yes, that you had a meeting to deal with it.

MS. GIRARDI:  It's documented.  It's in my records.

MR. SELZNICK:  And in response to Mr. Tunley's last question suggesting that you don't do anything until the notice of intention came out, we have heard evidence about the June 30th voluntary compliance order and building this verification call process to model the door-to-door sales call.

You will recall the evidence put to Ms. Marijan in her evidence about the e-mail from the compliance staff responding to the Minister I think on the K.S. --

MS. GIRARDI:  Right.

MR. SELZNICK:  -- file indicating that the staff felt that was compliant.

Had you known before the notice of intention or the interim order had been issued that the Board took issue or felt your company fell below a standard of compliance, would you have done anything differently?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MR. SELZNICK:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Board Staff?

MR. DUFFY:  Board Staff don't have any questions.  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I have just a few questions.

The OEA discussion paper --

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  -- you said it was posted June 2009?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Do you recall when work started on that discussion paper?

MS. GIRARDI:  That would have been in 2008, yes, because we were working on the registry and the OEA training manual in -- I would say, in quarter 4 of 2008.

MS. HARE:  The reaffirmation calls, are those taken by a Summitt employee or is it an agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  It is an agency.

MS. HARE:  Oh, it is also an agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Do you consider that the agents work for the agency or for Summitt?

MS. GIRARDI:  The individual sales agents?

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MS. GIRARDI:  I would say both, not to evade your question.  They are representing Summitt Energy when they are out in the field.

MS. HARE:  That's why you ask them to sign a contract with Summitt?

MS. GIRARDI:  Well, the contract is actually -- it has our logo on it, but I believe it is --

MS. HARE:  I am talking about the independent contractor agreement.

MS. GIRARDI:  The IC agreement, yes.

MS. HARE:  Yes.  That's with Summitt?

MS. GIRARDI:  No.  It is with the independent contractor even though it is on Summitt logo.

MS. HARE:  Sorry.  Now I am confused.  So it is the agent signs it, and who is the other party that is signing it?

MS. GIRARDI:  The agency.

MS. HARE:  The agency?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  And does the agency pay the agent?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes, yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Can I just ask you to confirm none of the five agents that we heard from in the last six days had any background in energy at all; is that correct?

MS. GIRARDI:  Some of them testified that they had worked for other retailers before joining Summitt.  A.T. testified that he worked, I think -- well, one of them testified they worked for Direct Energy, the other one for Just Energy.

MS. HARE:  And some of them had not worked in the energy market at all?

MS. GIRARDI:  Exactly.  M.G., I believe, and A.B.

MS. HARE:  So turning to binder, I think it is, 2 in tab, I think it is, 2B?

If you look at I think it is the fifth page in, "Natural Gas Pricing Trends", and you had --

MS. GIRARDI:  Sorry, Ms. Hare, binder 2, tab 1B?

MS. HARE:  One -- sorry, binder 2.

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Tab 2B.

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, 2B.  Okay, yes.

MS. HARE:  If you go to about the fifth page?

MS. GIRARDI:  Yes.  "Ontario's power supply"?

MS. HARE:  No, "Natural gas pricing trends"?

MS. GIRARDI:  "Natural gas pricing trends."

MS. HARE:  And there is a statement here that says:

"In the last five years, gas prices have ranged from a low of 15 cents per cubic metre up to over 50 cents."

MS. GIRARDI:  That's what it says.

MS. HARE:  Now, that may be true if you are looking at the spot market, but do you think those agents have any understanding that that might have been 50 cents at a point in time?

MS. GIRARDI:  I believe that the sales agents understand the difference between spot prices and utility prices.  Yes, I do.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no questions.

Any arising?

Does that conclude your case, Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  It does, thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has determined that we will proceed by way of written argument.

Board Staff will be in touch with counsel to establish a provisional or a suggested schedule for that, which the Board will then consider, and will issue a procedural order respecting written argument.

I beg your pardon.  Ms. Girardi, you are excused.

MS. GIRARDI:  Oh, okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much for your assistance.

I think that concludes all of the matters that need to be addressed at the moment.

Mr. Tunley?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  If I may, sorry, if I may just raise one other, I have discussed with Board Staff Counsel and with my friend an opportunity to put in a binder of material which you would consider only on the issue of an appropriate remedy, should you find that any of the complaints are supported.

I will ask that the same process, that -- i.e., a discussion for the time for delivery and how that gets incorporated in the written argument be addressed through counsel, and eventually through your procedural order.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board will consider submissions from all parties on that subject.

Thank you.

Any submissions on that proposal as to how we go forward?  Mr. Selznick?

MR. SELZNICK:  As I advised my friend, I am reluctant to allow any further evidence to be admitted that isn't in the evidentiary portion of this proceeding.  I really don't know what is in his binder.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SELZNICK:  And it is very hard to respond to it, even on the side of penalty phase, if we get that far, because I don't know what is in it.  And I would rather it not go to the Board until the issue of what it is and its validity is determined.

MR. TUNLEY:  I will give my friend a copy today and we can address that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's cross that bridge when we get there.

Certainly, I'm alert to your concerns, and we will give them consideration as we develop the rest of the timetable, as to whether there is even a dichotomy between the remedy stage and liability stage, which is the stage we are in, I guess.

So with that, we stand adjourned.  I would like to thank counsel and all parties for their very considerate courteous and thoughtful input.  It has been extremely helpful.  I think we got through a tremendous amount of material in a relatively short period of time, and that is exclusively due to your diligence, so I appreciate that.

Thank you very much.  And Ms. Reporter, thanks to you too.

Thanks.  We stand adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:21 p.m.
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